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PART I—FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements

Loar Holdings Inc.

Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets
(Unaudited, in thousands except share amounts)

 

  June 30, 2025   December 31, 2024  
Assets       
Current assets:       

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 103,342  $ 54,066 
Accounts receivable, net   71,945   63,834 
Inventories   99,883   92,639 
Other current assets   10,457   9,499 
Income taxes receivable   395    632  

Total current assets   286,022   220,670 

Property, plant and equipment, net   
75,666

   
76,605

 
Finance lease assets   2,033   2,171 
Operating lease assets   5,957   5,584 
Other long-term assets   20,025   17,389 
Intangible assets, net   420,469   434,662 
Goodwill   688,051   693,537 

Total assets  $ 1,498,223  $ 1,450,618 
       
Liabilities and equity       
Current liabilities:       

Accounts payable  $ 16,244  $ 12,086 
Current portion of finance lease liabilities   255    232  
Current portion of operating lease liabilities   668    603  
Income taxes payable   2,721   1,984 
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities   26,585   26,901 

Total current liabilities   46,473   41,806 
Deferred income taxes   34,891   32,892 
Long-term debt, net   277,669   277,293 
Finance lease liabilities   3,036   3,170 
Operating lease liabilities   5,472   5,136 
Other long-term liabilities   1,949   1,816 

Total liabilities   369,490   362,113 
       
Commitments and contingencies       
       
Equity:       

Preferred stock, $0.01 par value, 1,000,000 shares authorized, and no shares issued or 
outstanding   —   — 
Common stock, $0.01 par value, 485,000,000 shares authorized; 93,622,471 and 
93,556,071 issued and outstanding at June 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024, 
respectively   936    936  
Additional paid-in capital   1,116,823   1,108,225 
Retained earnings (accumulated deficit)   11,469   (20,560)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss   (495)   (96)

Total equity   1,128,733   1,088,505 
Total liabilities and equity  $ 1,498,223  $ 1,450,618 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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Loar Holdings Inc.

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations
(Unaudited, in thousands except per share amounts)

 
  Three Months Ended June 30,   Six Months Ended June 30,  
  2025   2024   2025   2024  
Net sales  $ 123,123  $ 97,015  $ 237,782  $ 188,859 
Cost of sales   56,924   49,489   111,877   96,900 
Gross profit   66,199   47,526   125,905   91,959 
Selling, general and administrative expenses   36,898   27,276   70,000   50,176 
Transaction expenses   1,984   929    2,444   1,105 
Other income, net   —   2,867   —   2,867 
Operating income   27,317   22,188   53,461   43,545 
Interest expense, net   6,481   10,636   12,940   28,370 
Refinancing costs   -   1,645   -   1,645 
Income before income taxes   20,836   9,907   40,521   13,530 
Income tax provision   (4,123)   (2,266)   (8,492)   (3,640)
Net income  $ 16,713  $ 7,641  $ 32,029  $ 9,890 
Net income per common share:             

Basic  $ 0.18  $ 0.09  $ 0.34  $ 0.11 
Diluted  $ 0.17  $ 0.09  $ 0.33  $ 0.11 

Weighted average common shares outstanding:             
Basic   93,586   87,534   93,571   87,534 
Diluted   96,113   89,242   95,933   89,242 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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Loar Holdings Inc.

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
(Unaudited, in thousands)

 
  Three Months Ended June 30,   Six Months Ended June 30,  
  2025   2024   2025   2024  

Net income  $ 16,713  $ 7,641  $ 32,029  $ 9,890 
Cumulative translation adjustments, net of tax   (143)   36   (399)   204  
Comprehensive income  $ 16,570  $ 7,677  $ 31,630  $ 10,094 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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Loar Holdings Inc.

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Equity
(Unaudited, in thousands)

 
 

    Loar Holdings Inc. Stockholders' Equity  
    Common Stock              
 

 

 

 Shares   Amount   

Additional      
Paid-in        
Capital   

Retained 
Earnings 

(Accumulated 
Deficit)   

Accumulated 
Other 

Comprehensive 
Loss   

Total          
Equity  

Balance, January 1, 2025     93,556  $ 936   $ 1,108,225  $ (20,560)  $ (96)  $ 1,088,505 
Net income     —   —   —   15,316   —   15,316 
Stock-based compensation     —   —   3,089   —   —   3,089 
Cumulative translation adjustments, net of tax     —   —   —   —   (256)   (256)

Balance, March 31, 2025     93,556   936    1,111,314   (5,244)   (352)   1,106,654 
Net income     —   —   —   16,713   —   16,713 
Stock-based compensation     —   —   3,650   —   —   3,650 
Exercise of stock options     66   —   1,859   —   —   1,859 
Cumulative translation adjustments, net of tax     —   —   —   —   (143)   (143)

Balance, June 30, 2025     93,622  $ 936   $ 1,116,823  $ 11,469  $ (495)  $ 1,128,733 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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Loar Holdings Inc.

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Equity
(Unaudited, in thousands)

 
 

 

 

Loar Holdings, 
LLC and 

Subsidiaries 
(Prior to 

Corporate 
Conversion)   Loar Holdings Inc. Stockholders' Equity  

     Common Stock              
 

 
Member's 

Equity   Shares   Amount   

Additional      
Paid-in        
Capital   

Accumulated 
Deficit   

Accumulated 
Other 

Comprehensive 
Income   

Total          
Equity  

Balance, January 1, 2024  $ 418,141   —  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ 418,141 
Net income   2,249   —   —   —   —   —   2,249 
Stock-based compensation   87   —   —   —   —   —   87 
Cumulative translation adjustments, net of tax   168   —   —   —   —   —   168 

Balance, March 31, 2024   420,645   —   —   —   —   —   420,645 
Stock-based compensation prior to
    Corporate Conversion   1,111   —   —   —   —   —   1,111 
Reclassification of members equity upon
   Corporate Conversion   40,531   —   —   —   (40,542)   11   — 
Effect of the Corporate Conversion   (462,287)   77,000   770   461,517   —   —   — 
Issuance of common stock sold in initial public 
   offering, net of offering costs   —   12,650   126   325,605   —   —   325,731 
Issuance of common stock to Directors under 
   the 2024 Equity Incentive Plan   —   54   1   1,349   —   —   1,350 
Net income   —   —   —   —   7,641   —   7,641 
Stock-based compensation   —   —   —   1,926   —   —   1,926 
Cumulative translation adjustments, net of tax   —   —   —   —   —   36   36 

Balance, June 30, 2024  $ —   89,704  $ 897  $ 790,397  $ (32,901)  $ 47  $ 758,440 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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 Loar Holdings Inc.

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(Unaudited, in thousands)

 
  Six Months Ended June 30,  
  2025   2024  

Operating Activities       
Net income  $ 32,029   $ 9,890  
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by   
   operating activities:       

Depreciation   5,948    5,408  
Amortization of intangibles and other long-term assets   19,197    14,304  
Amortization of debt issuance costs   447    692  
Stock-based compensation   6,739    4,474  

Deferred income taxes   
884

   (2,451 )
Non-cash lease expense   313    277  
Refinancing costs   —    1,645  
Adjustment to contingent consideration liability   —    (2,867 )
Changes in assets and liabilities:       

Accounts receivable   (7,653 )   (1,714 )
Inventories   (6,198 )   (7,201 )
Other assets   (3,184 )   (4,550 )
Accounts payable   3,851    3,428  
Income taxes payable   653    441  
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities   (571 )   (3,629 )
Operating lease liabilities   (292 )   (252 )

Net cash provided by operating activities   52,163    17,895  
       
Investing Activities       

Capital expenditures   (4,718 )   (4,452 )
Proceeds from sale of fixed assets   —    322  
Proceeds from acquisition purchase price adjustment   —    289  

Net cash used in investing activities   (4,718 )   (3,841 )
       
Financing Activities       

Net proceeds from issuance of common stock   —    325,731  
Proceeds from exercise of stock options   1,859    —  
Payments of long-term debt   —    (286,349 )
Financing costs and other, net   —    (1,676 )
Payments of finance lease liabilities   (110 )   (90 )

Net cash provided by financing activities   1,749    37,616  
       
Effect of translation adjustments on cash and cash equivalents   82    44  
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents   49,276    51,714  
       
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period   54,066    21,489  
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period  $ 103,342   $ 73,203  
       

Supplemental information       
Interest paid during the period, net of capitalized amounts  $ 13,056   $ 28,035  
Income taxes paid during the period, net  $ 7,061   $ 5,596  
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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Loar Holdings Inc.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Organization 

Prior to April 16, 2024, Loar Holdings Inc. (the Company) operated as a Delaware limited liability company under the name Loar 
Holdings, LLC. On April 16, 2024, the Company converted to a Delaware corporation and changed its name to Loar Holdings Inc. (the 
Corporate Conversion). In the Corporate Conversion, all of the equity interests of the Company outstanding as of the date thereof were 
converted into shares of common stock. Specifically, holders of Loar Holdings, LLC units received 377,450.980392157 shares of 
common stock of Loar Holdings Inc. for each unit of Loar Holdings, LLC. The purpose of the Corporate Conversion was to reorganize 
the Company’s structure in advance of the public offering of common stock so that the entity offering the common stock to the public 
in the offering was a corporation rather than a limited liability company, so that the existing investors and new investors in the offering 
would own the Company’s common stock rather than equity interests in a limited liability company.

The registration statement related to the Company’s initial public offering (IPO) was declared effective on April 24, 2024, and the
Company’s common stock began trading on the New York Stock Exchange on April 25, 2024. On April 29, 2024, the Company
completed its IPO for the sale of 12.6 million shares of common stock, $0.01 par value per share, at a public offering price of $28.00
per share. The Company received net proceeds from the IPO of approximately $325.4 million after deducting underwriting discounts, 
commissions and other offering costs of $28.8 million.

On December 12, 2024, the Company completed a follow-on offering in which it issued 3,852,500 shares of common stock at a price 
of $85.00 per share (Follow-on Offering). The Company received net proceeds from the offering of approximately $311.6 million after 
deducting underwriting discounts, commissions and other offering costs of $16.0 million. 

In connection with a secondary offering of shares by existing shareholders during the three months ended June 30, 2025, the Company 
paid certain fees and expenses, totaling $0.9 million, which were included in transaction expenses in the Company's condensed 
consolidated statements of operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2025. The Company did not receive any proceeds 
from this offering.
 

2. Basis of Presentation

As used in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, unless expressly stated otherwise or the context otherwise requires, the terms “Loar,” 
the “Company,” “we,” “us” and “our” refer to Loar Holdings Inc. and its subsidiaries, collectively.

Principles of Consolidation

The financial information included herein is unaudited; however, the information reflects all adjustments (consisting of normal 
recurring adjustments) that are, in the opinion of management, necessary for a fair presentation of the Company’s condensed 
consolidated financial statements for the interim periods presented. These financial statements and notes should be read in 
conjunction with the financial statements and related notes for the year ended December 31, 2024 included in Loar Holdings Inc.'s 
Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 31, 2025. As disclosed therein, the Company’s annual consolidated financial statements 
were prepared in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States (GAAP). Certain information and 
footnote disclosures normally included in financial statements prepared in accordance with GAAP have been omitted pursuant to the 
rules and regulations of the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). The December 31, 2024 condensed 
consolidated balance sheet was derived from Loar Holdings Inc.’s audited financial statements for the year then-ended. The results of 
operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2025 are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for the full 
year.

Reclassifications

Reclassification has been made to the prior year's condensed consolidated statement of cash flows to conform with the current year's 
presentation. These reclassifications have resulted in no changes to the Company's condensed consolidated results of operations, 
financial position or operating or total cash flows.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements 

In December 2023, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2023-09, Income 
Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures, which requires a public business entity to disclose specific categories in 
its annual effective tax rate reconciliation and provide disaggregated information about significant reconciling items by jurisdiction 
and by nature. The ASU also requires entities to disclose their income tax payments (net of refunds) to international, federal, and state 
and local jurisdictions. The standard makes several other changes to income tax disclosure requirements. This standard is effective for 
annual periods beginning after December 15, 2024, and requires prospective application with the option to apply it retrospectively. 
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The adoption of this guidance will not affect the Company’s consolidated results of operations, financial position or cash flows, and 
the Company is currently evaluating the standard to determine its impact on the Company’s disclosures.

In November 2024, the FASB issued ASU 2024-03, Income Statement - Reporting Comprehensive Income - Expense Disaggregation 
Disclosures (Sub Topic 220-40): Disaggregation of Income Statement Expenses . The guidance requires disaggregated information 
about certain income statement costs and expenses for public entities. The ASU does not change the expense captions an entity 
presents on the face of the income statement; rather, it requires disaggregation of certain expense captions into specified categories 
within the notes to the financial statements. This ASU is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2026, and interim 
periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2027. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of the new guidance 
on its consolidated financial statements.
 

3. Acquisition

Applied Avionics, Inc.

On August 26, 2024, the Company acquired 100% of the membership interests of Applied Avionics, LLC, a Delaware LLC (AAI), 
which was formerly known as Applied Avionics, Inc. from AAI Holdings, Inc., a Delaware corporation (AAI Parent) for $383.5 
million in cash. AAI Parent is owned by certain individual shareholders thereof, including certain members of AAI’s management 
team. Incorporated in 1968, AAI designs, develops and manufactures highly engineered avionics interface solutions. 

The total purchase price was allocated to the underlying assets acquired and liabilities assumed based upon the estimated fair values at 
the date of acquisition in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 805, Business Combinations. The following table 
summarizes the purchase price allocation of the estimated fair values of the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed at the transaction 
date (in thousands):
 

Assets acquired:       
Current assets     $ 7,169  
Property, plant and equipment      6,996  
Intangible assets      152,100  
Goodwill      219,301  
Deferred income taxes      2,026  

Total assets acquired      387,592  
Liabilities assumed:       
Current liabilities      4,043  

Total liabilities assumed      4,043  
Net assets acquired     $ 383,549  

Inventory was recorded at its estimated fair value, which represented an amount equivalent to estimated selling price less fulfillment 
costs and a normative selling profit. The increase in fair value of inventory from the acquisition was approximately $1.1 million, which 
was recognized in cost of goods sold during the year ended December 31, 2024.

Goodwill is primarily attributable to the assembled workforce and expected synergies with other acquired companies, combined with 
the industry operating expertise of management. These are among the factors that contributed to a purchase price that resulted in the 
recognition of goodwill. Goodwill is deductible for tax purposes.

The results of operations of AAI are included in the Company’s condensed consolidated financial statements for the period subsequent 
to the completion of the acquisition.

Pro forma financial information

Had the acquisition of AAI occurred as of January 1, 2023, net sales on a pro forma basis for the three and six months ended June 30, 
2024 would have been $108.7 million and $210.7 million, respectively. Additionally, income before income taxes on a pro forma basis 
for the three months ended June 30, 2024 would have been $3.8 million and the loss before income taxes on a pro forma basis for the 
six months ended June 30, 2024 would have been $0.2 million. The pro forma results are not necessarily indicative of the operating 
results that would have occurred had the acquisition been effective January 1, 2023, nor are they intended to be indicative of results 
that may occur in the future. The underlying pro forma information includes the historical financial results of the Company and the 
acquired business adjusted for certain items. The pro forma information for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 includes 
$2.4 million and $4.8 million, respectively, of amortization of acquired intangible assets resulting from the preliminary purchase price 
allocation. Interest expense has been adjusted as though the debt incurred to finance the AAI acquisition had been outstanding at 
January 1, 2023. The pro forma interest expense adjustment for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 was $9.1 million and 
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$18.3 million, respectively. The pro forma information does not include the effects of any synergies, cost reduction initiatives or 
anticipated integration costs related to the acquisition.
 

4. Revenue Recognition

All revenue recognized in the condensed consolidated statements of operations is considered to be revenue from contracts with 
customers.

Revenue is recognized in an amount that reflects the consideration the Company expects to be entitled to in exchange for those goods 
or services when control of the promised good or service is transferred to the customer. Substantially all of the Company’s revenue 
from contracts with customers is recognized at a point in time, which is generally upon shipment of goods to the customer.

The Company sells specialty aerospace components based on a customer purchase order, which generally includes a fixed price per 
unit. The Company satisfies the single performance obligation generally upon shipment of the goods, as this is when contractual 
control transfers to the customer and recognizes revenue at that point in time. Total revenues do not include taxes, such as sales tax or 
value-added tax, which are assessed by governmental authorities and collected by the Company.

Products are covered by a standard assurance warranty, that generally is for a period of 25 days to two years depending on the 
customer, which promises that delivered products conform to contract specifications. The Company does not offer refunds or accept 
returns, unless related to a defect or warranty related matter. The Company does not sell extended warranties and does not provide 
warranties outside of fixing defects that existed at the time of sale. As such, warranties are accounted for under ASC 460, Guarantees 
and not as a separate performance obligation.

Customers generally have payment terms between 30 and 90 days from the satisfaction of the performance obligations. As a practical 
expedient, the Company does not adjust the amount of consideration for a financing component, as the period between the transfer of 
goods or services and the customer’s payment is, at contract inception, expected to be one year or less.

Net sales by end market were as follows (in thousands):
 

  Three Months Ended June 30,  
  2025   2024  

  
OEM

Net Sales   
Aftermarket

Net Sales   
Total

Net Sales   
OEM

Net Sales   
Aftermarket

Net Sales   
Total

Net Sales  
Commercial Aerospace  $ 19,440  $ 34,836  $ 54,276  $ 14,299  $ 26,894  $ 41,193 
Business Jet and General 
Aviation   17,895   12,267   30,162   17,438   9,725   27,163 
Total Commercial   37,335   47,103   84,438   31,737   36,619   68,356 
Defense   14,332   17,139   31,471   8,855   12,022   20,877 
Non-Aerospace   2,655   4,559   7,214   3,451   4,331   7,782 
Total  $ 54,322  $ 68,801  $ 123,123  $ 44,043  $ 52,972  $ 97,015 

                   
                   
  Six Months Ended June 30,  
  2025   2024  

  
OEM

Net Sales   
Aftermarket

Net Sales   
Total

Net Sales   
OEM

Net Sales   
Aftermarket

Net Sales   
Total

Net Sales  
Commercial Aerospace  $ 35,504  $ 67,239  $ 102,743  $ 30,492  $ 52,043  $ 82,535 
Business Jet and General 
Aviation   37,318   23,702   61,020   33,645   19,132   52,777 
Total Commercial   72,822   90,941   163,763   64,137   71,175   135,312 
Defense   26,058   34,195   60,253   16,641   20,871   37,512 
Non-Aerospace   5,521   8,245   13,766   7,751   8,284   16,035 
Total  $ 104,401  $ 133,381  $ 237,782  $ 88,529  $ 100,330  $ 188,859 
 

Contract Liabilities 

Contract liabilities, or deferred revenue, represents payments received in advance of the satisfaction of performance under the contract. 
The Company receives payments from customers based on established terms. The Company's contract liabilities consisted of the 
following (in thousands):
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  June 30, 2025   December 31, 2024  

Contract liabilities, current  $ 3,879   $ 4,159  
Contract liabilities, long-term   —    —  
Total  $ 3,879   $ 4,159  
 
(1) Included in accrued expenses and other current liabilities on the condensed consolidated balance sheets.
 
During the three and six months ended June 30, 2025, the Company recognized approximately $0.9 million and $3.6 million, 
respectively, of revenue that was included in the contract liability balance at December 31, 2024. The Company had no material 
contract assets at June 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024.
 

5. Inventories

Inventories consisted of the following (in thousands):
 

  June 30, 2025   December 31, 2024  
Raw materials  $ 35,672   $ 39,162  
Work-in-process   38,294    29,797  
Finished goods   25,917    23,680  
Total  $ 99,883   $ 92,639  
 

6. Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment consisted of the following (in thousands):
 

  June 30, 2025   December 31, 2024  
Land  $ 15,794   $ 15,411  
Buildings and improvements   35,906    35,504  
Machinery, equipment, furniture and fixtures   90,422    86,297  
Total   142,122    137,212  
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization   (66,456 )   (60,607 )
Total  $ 75,666   $ 76,605  
 
There were no sales of property, plant and equipment during the three and six months ended June 30, 2025.
 

7. Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities consisted of the following (in thousands):
 
  June 30, 2025   December 31, 2024  
Compensation and related benefits  $ 12,258   $ 14,162  
Contract liabilities   3,879    4,159  
Other   10,448    8,580  
Total  $ 26,585   $ 26,901  
 

8. Long-Term Debt

The Company’s debt consisted of the following (in thousands):
 
  June 30, 2025   December 31, 2024  
Term loans  $ 281,366   $ 281,366  
Less: unamortized debt issuance costs   (3,697 )   (4,073 )
Total net debt   277,669    277,293  
Less: current portion   —    —  
Long-term debt  $ 277,669   $ 277,293  
 

(1)
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The Company’s long-term debt at June 30, 2025 consisted of borrowings under its Credit Agreement, dated as of October 2, 2017, as 
amended from time to time (Credit Agreement). The Credit Agreement is secured by substantially all of the assets of the Company.

On March 26, 2024, the Credit Agreement was amended to extend the termination date of the delayed draw term loan commitment by 
approximately nine months, extending it from April 1, 2024 to December 31, 2024. 

On April 10, 2024, the Company amended the Credit Agreement to permit certain non-pro rata open market purchases of term loans 
pursuant to open market purchases. In addition, the Company also entered into that certain Master Open Market Purchase Agreement, 
by and between affiliates of lender and the Company (Master Open Market Purchase Agreement) to repurchase term loans on a non-
pro rata basis subject to certain conditions as set forth therein.
 
On May 3, 2024, the Company used a portion of the net proceeds from its IPO to voluntarily repay $284.6 million aggregate principal 
amount of term loans under the Credit Agreement plus accrued interest of $0.3 million. The Company wrote off $0.8 million in 
unamortized debt issuance costs and expensed $0.8 million in refinancing costs associated with the amendment of the Credit 
Agreement.

On May 10, 2024, the Credit Agreement was amended to extend the maturity date to May 10, 2030 from April 2, 2026 and reduce the 
applicable margin by between 2.0 and 2.5 percentage points based on the Company’s leverage ratio. At the Company’s election, 
interest on loans will accrue at the SOFR rate plus the applicable margin of 4.75% or at the base rate plus the applicable margin of 
3.75% as long as the Company maintains a leverage ratio of less than 5.5 to 1. The Company also increased the existing availability 
under its delayed draw term loan commitment to $100 million, which terminates if not drawn upon by May 10, 2026. In addition, the 
existing revolving line of credit under the Credit Agreement was replaced with a new revolving credit commitment of $50 million. The 
unused portion of the revolving line of credit carries a commitment fee of 0.375%. Loans outstanding under the revolving line of 
credit, if any, mature on May 10, 2029.

On August 26, 2024, the Credit Agreement was amended to make available to the Company an incremental term loan in an aggregate 
principal amount equal to $360 million for purposes of (i) paying a portion of the consideration payable by it pursuant to the terms of 
that certain purchase agreement (Purchase Agreement) pursuant to which the Company agreed to purchase from AAI Parent all the 
issued and outstanding equity interests of AAI, (ii) paying fees and expenses incurred in connection with the foregoing, and (iii) 
otherwise to fund working capital and general corporate purposes. 

On December 17, 2024, the Company used the net proceeds from its Follow-on Offering and cash from operations to repay $330.0 
million aggregate principal amount of term loans under its Credit Agreement plus accrued interest of $1.5 million. The Company 
wrote-off $4.8 million in unamortized debt issuance costs.

On March 7, 2025, in connection with the pending acquisition of LMB Fans & Motors (LMB) which is expected to close in the third 
quarter of 2025, the Company entered into the Commitment Letter (as amended and restated) pursuant to which Blackstone Credit has 
committed, subject to the satisfaction of customary conditions, to provide the Company with the Incremental Loan Facility in an 
amount equal to the U.S. dollar equivalent of €400.0 million. The loans under the Incremental Loan Facility will mature on the same 
date, will amortize, and will bear the same interest rate as the existing term loans outstanding under the Credit Agreement.

The Credit Agreement requires the maintenance of a quarterly leverage ratio. There are also certain non-financial covenants in place 
limiting us from, among other things, incurring other indebtedness, creating any liens on our properties, entering into merger or 
consolidation transactions, disposing of all or substantially all of our assets and payment of certain dividends and distributions. The 
Company was in compliance with all financial and non-financial covenants of the Credit Agreement as of June 30, 2025.

The Credit Agreement requires mandatory prepayments of the principal amount if there is excess cash flow, as defined, during a 
calendar year. 

The Credit Agreement permits voluntary principal prepayments, in whole or in part, with no premium for any prepayments made. Any 
voluntary loan prepayments are applied to reduce future scheduled installments of principal in the order specified by the Company, or 
if the Company does not specify, the prepayment is applied to reduce the scheduled installments of principal in direct order of 
maturity. During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company made voluntary prepayments of $614.6 million. The prepayments 
exceeded the quarterly mandatory principal payments for the remainder of the term loan. Accordingly, the next term loan principal 
payment is due on May 10, 2030. There were no voluntary prepayments made under the Credit Agreement during the three and six 
months ended June 30, 2025

At June 30, 2025, there was $281.4 million outstanding under the Credit Agreement, and there remained availability of $100.0 million 
in delayed draw term loan commitments and $50.0 million in revolving line of credit.
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9. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company’s financial instruments consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable, finance 
leases and debt. The carrying amounts of all financial instruments reported on the condensed consolidated balance sheets at June 30, 
2025 and December 31, 2024 are considered to approximate fair value either due to the relatively short period of time between the 
origination of these financial instruments and their expected realization, or the interest rates associated with the debt obligations 
approximate current market rates.
 

10. Commitments and Contingencies

There are various lawsuits and claims pending against the Company incidental to its business. Although the final results in such suits 
and proceedings cannot be predicted with certainty, in the opinion of management, the ultimate liability, if any, will not have a 
material impact on the condensed consolidated financial statements.

Pending Acquisition

On March 7, 2025, following completion of the works council consultation process required under French Law, the Company entered 
into a purchase agreement to acquire 100% of the shares of LMB for €365 million plus the assumption of net debt (estimated to be 
€44.3 million). Net debt is payable in cash at closing. LMB is a global specialty player in the design and production of customized 
high-performance fans and motors. The transaction is expected to close in the third quarter of 2025 shortly after receiving requisite 
regulatory approvals and is subject to customary closing conditions. 

The acquisition will be financed through additional borrowings under the Company's existing Credit Agreement and cash on hand. In 
connection with the acquisition, we entered into an incremental term facility commitment letter with Blackstone Credit (the 
Commitment Letter (as amended and restated)), pursuant to which Blackstone Credit has committed, subject to the satisfaction of 
customary conditions, to provide us with an incremental term loan facility in an amount equal to the U.S. dollar equivalent of €400.0 
million (the Incremental Loan Facility). The loans under the Incremental Loan Facility will mature on the same date, will amortize, and 
will bear the same interest rate as the existing term loans outstanding under the Credit Agreement.
 

11. Net Income per Common Share

Net income per common share was computed as follows (in thousands, except net income per share amounts):
 

  Three Months Ended June 30,   
Six Months Ended June 

30,  
  2025   2024   2025   2024  

Net income  $ 16,713  $ 7,641  $ 32,029  $ 9,890 
Denominator for basic and diluted earnings per common share:             
Weighted-average common shares outstanding - basic   93,586   87,534   93,571   87,534 
Effect of dilutive common shares   2,527   1,708   2,362   1,708 
Weighted average common shares outstanding—diluted   96,113   89,242   95,933   89,242 

Net income per common shares—basic  $ 0.18  $ 0.09  $ 0.34  $ 0.11 

Net income per common shares—diluted  $ 0.17  $ 0.09  $ 0.33  $ 0.11 
 

12. Income Taxes

At the end of each quarter, the Company makes an estimate of its annual effective income tax rate. The estimate used in the year-to-
date period may change in subsequent periods.

During the three months ended June 30, 2025 and 2024, the effective income tax rates were 19.8% and 22.9%, respectively. The 2025 
effective tax rate decreased when compared to 2024, primarily due to the discrete impact of excess tax benefits associated with share-
based payments. 

During the six months ended June 30, 2025 and 2024, the effective income tax rates were 21.0% and 26.9%, respectively. The 
decrease in the effective tax rate was primarily due to a decrease in the valuation allowance against the Company's deferred tax asset 
for its disallowed interest carryforward and the discrete impact of excess tax benefits associated with share-based payments during 
2025.
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13. Subsequent Events

On July 4, 2025, the One Big Beautiful Bill Act ("OBBBA") was signed into law. The OBBBA makes permanent key elements of the 
Tax Cuts and Jobs Act, including 100% bonus depreciation, domestic research cost expensing, and the business interest expense 
limitation. ASC 740, Income Taxes, requires the effects of changes in tax rates and laws on deferred tax balances to be recognized in 
the period in which the legislation is enacted. Consequently, as of the date of enactment, and during the three months ended September 
30, 2025, the Company will evaluate all deferred tax balances under the newly enacted tax law and identify any other changes required 
to its financial statements as a result of the OBBBA. The Company is still evaluating the impact of the OBBBA and the results of such 
evaluations will be reflected in the Company's Form 10-Q for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2025.

On July 28, 2025, the Company completed the acquisition of Beadlight Ltd. (Beadlight) for approximately £25 million ($33 million). 
Beadlight designs, develops, and manufactures illumination solutions, air filtration systems and human-machine interface products 
from its facility in Witney, England. The purchase price was paid by the Company with cash on hand.

On August 1, 2025, the Credit Agreement was amended to reduce the applicable margin by 0.5%. At the Company's election, interest 
on loans will accrue at the SOFR rate plus the applicable margin of 4.25% or at the base rate plus the applicable margin of 3.25% as 
long as the Company maintains a leverage ratio of less than 5.5 to 1.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
 
You should read the following discussion in conjunction with our condensed consolidated financial statements including the related 
notes thereto, included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
 
This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains both historical information and, “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of 
Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the Exchange Act), and 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. 
All statements other than statements of historical fact included that address activities, events or developments that we expect, believe or 
anticipate will or may occur in the future are forward-looking statements, including, in particular, the statements about our plans, 
objectives, strategies and prospects regarding, among other things, our financial condition, results of operations and business. We have 
identified some of these forward-looking statements with words like “believe,” “may,” “will,” “should,” “expect,” “intend,” “plan,” 
“predict,” “anticipate,” “estimate” or “continue” and other words and terms of similar meaning. These forward-looking statements 
may be contained throughout this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. These forward-looking statements are based on current expectations 
about future events affecting us and are subject to uncertainties and factors relating to, among other things, our operations and 
business environment, all of which are difficult to predict and many of which are beyond our control. Many factors mentioned in our 
discussion in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, including the risks outlined under “Risk Factors,” will be important in determining 
future results. Although we believe that the expectations reflected in these forward-looking statements are reasonable, we do not know 
whether our expectations will prove correct. They can be affected by inaccurate assumptions we might make or by known or unknown 
risks and uncertainties, including those described under “Risk Factors” in Part II, Item 1A of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and 
in Part I, Item 1A, “Risk Factors,” of the Annual Report on Form 10-K. Since our actual results, performance or achievements could 
differ materially from those expressed in, or implied by, these forward-looking statements, we cannot give any assurance that any of the 
events anticipated by these forward-looking statements will occur or, if any of them does occur, what impact they will have on our 
business, results of operations and financial condition. You are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking 
statements, which speak only as of the date they are made. We do not undertake any obligation to update these forward-looking 
statements, or the risk factors contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, to reflect new information, future events or otherwise, 
except as may be required under federal securities laws.
 
Important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from the forward-looking statements made in this Quarterly Report 
on Form 10-Q include but are not limited to: the almost exclusive focus of our business on the aerospace and defense industry; our 
reliance on certain customers; failure to complete or successfully integrate acquisitions; the sensitivity of our business to the number of 
flight hours that our customers’ planes spend aloft and our customers’ profitability, both of which are affected by general economic 
conditions; future geopolitical or other worldwide events; cyber-security threats and natural disasters; the U.S. defense budget and 
risks associated with being a government supplier including government audits and investigations; failure to maintain government or 
industry approvals; tariffs on certain imports to the United States and other potential changes to U.S. tariff and import/export 
regulations; our indebtedness; potential environmental liabilities; liabilities arising in connection with litigation; increases in raw 
material costs, taxes and labor costs that cannot be recovered in product pricing; risks and costs associated with our international sales 
and operations; and other factors. Refer to Part II, Item 1A included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and to Part I, Item 1A of the 
Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information regarding the foregoing factors that may affect our business.

Overview

We specialize in the design, manufacture, and sale of niche aerospace and defense components that are essential for today’s aircraft and 
aerospace and defense systems. We focus on mission-critical, highly engineered solutions with high intellectual property content. 
Furthermore, our products have significant aftermarket exposure, which has historically generated predictable and recurring revenue. 

The products we manufacture cover a diverse range of applications supporting nearly every major aircraft platform in use today and 
include auto throttles, lap-belt airbags, two- and three-point seat belts, water purification systems, fire barriers, polyimide washers and 
bushings, latches, hold-open and tie rods, temperature and fluid sensors and switches, carbon and metallic brake discs, fluid and 
pneumatic-based ice protection, RAM air components, sealing solutions and motion and actuation devices, customized edge-lighted 
panels and knobs and annunciators for incandescent and LED illuminated pushbutton switches, among others.
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We primarily serve three core end markets: commercial, business jet and general aviation, and defense, which have long historical track 
records of consistent growth. We also serve a diversified customer base within these end markets where we maintain long-standing 
customer relationships. We believe that the demanding, extensive and costly qualification process for new entrants, coupled with our 
history of consistently delivering exceptional solutions for our customers, has provided us with leading market positions and created 
significant barriers to entry for potential competitors. By utilizing differentiated design, engineering, and manufacturing capabilities, 
along with a highly targeted acquisition strategy, we have sought to create long-term, sustainable value with a consistent, global business 
model.

As a specialized supplier in the aerospace and defense component industry, we believe we are well positioned to deliver innovative, 
mission-critical solutions to a wide array of aerospace and defense customers. Our key competitive strengths support our ability to offer 
differentiated solutions to our customers. We have a portfolio of mission-critical, niche aerospace and defense components that we 
believe hold leading market positions. We have intellectual property-driven proprietary products and expertise in an industry with high 
barriers to entry. We are strategically focused on higher-margin aftermarket content. We have highly diversified revenue streams, and 
our diversification stretches across end-markets, customers, platforms, and product category or application. We have an established 
business model with a lean, entrepreneurial structure. We have a disciplined and strategic approach to acquisitions with a history of 
successful integration. We have a track record of strong growth, margins and cash flow generation.

Recent Developments

On March 7, 2025, following completion of the works council consultation process required under French Law, we entered into a 
purchase agreement to acquire 100% of the shares of LMB for €365 million plus the assumption of net debt (estimated to be €44.3 
million). Net debt is payable in cash at closing. LMB is a global specialty player in the design and production of customized high-
performance fans and motors. The transaction is expected to close in the third quarter of 2025 shortly after receiving requisite regulatory 
approvals and is subject to customary closing conditions. 

The acquisition will be financed through additional borrowings under our existing Credit Agreement and cash on hand. In connection 
with the acquisition, we entered into the Commitment Letter (as amended and restated), pursuant to which Blackstone Credit has 
committed, subject to the satisfaction of customary conditions, to provide us with an Incremental Loan Facility in an amount equal to the 
U.S. dollar equivalent of €400.0 million. The loans under the Incremental Loan Facility will mature on the same date, will amortize, and 
will bear the same interest rate as the existing term loans outstanding under the Credit Agreement. Blackstone Credit is a lender under 
the Credit Agreement and owns approximately 8% of our common stock.

In connection with a secondary offering of shares by existing shareholders during the three months ended June 30, 2025, the Company 
paid certain fees and expenses, totaling $0.9 million, which were included in transaction expenses in the Company's condensed 
consolidated statements of operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2025. The Company did not receive any proceeds 
from this offering.

On July 4, 2025, the One Big Beautiful Bill Act ("OBBBA") was signed into law. The OBBBA makes permanent key elements of the 
Tax Cuts and Jobs Act, including 100% bonus depreciation, domestic research cost expensing, and the business interest expense 
limitation. ASC 740, Income Taxes, requires the effects of changes in tax rates and laws on deferred tax balances to be recognized in the 
period in which the legislation is enacted. Consequently, as of the date of enactment, and during the three months ended September 30, 
2025, we will evaluate all deferred tax balances under the newly enacted tax law and identify any other changes required to our financial 
statements as a result of the OBBBA. We are still evaluating the impact of the OBBBA and the results of these evaluations will be 
reflected in our Form 10-Q for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2025.

On July 28, 2025, we completed the acquisition of Beadlight Ltd. (Beadlight) for approximately £25 million ($33 million). Beadlight 
designs, develops, and manufactures illumination solutions, air filtration systems and human-machine interface products from its facility 
in Witney, England. The purchase price was paid by the Company with cash on hand.

On August 1, 2025. the Credit Agreement was amended to reduce the applicable margin by 0.5%. At our election, interest on loans will 
accrue at the SOFR rate plus the applicable margin of 4.25% or at the base rate plus the applicable margin of 3.25% as long as the 
Company maintains a leverage ratio of less than 5.5 to 1.
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Outlook

As we look to the remainder of 2025, we anticipate net sales growth to be driven by organic growth, in particular the conversion of high 
levels of backlog of our existing products, and the impact from strategic acquisitions. Backlog primarily consists of firm orders for 
products that have not yet shipped. Continued inflationary pressures and supply chain disruptions may lead to higher material and labor 
costs although these pressures and disruptions have not had a material effect on our year-to-date results of operations or capital 
resources, and we do not expect them to materially affect our outlook or business goals. So far in 2025, we have continued and plan to 
continue our commitment to develop new products and services, further market penetration, and pursue an aggressive acquisition 
strategy while seeking to maintain our financial strength and flexibility.

 
Results of Operations

The following table sets forth, for the three and six months ended June 30, 2025 and 2024, certain operating data of the Company, 
including presentation of the amounts as a percentage of net sales (in thousands unless otherwise indicated):
 

  Three Months Ended June 30,   Six Months Ended June 30,  
  2025   2024   2025   2024  

  Dollars   
% of Net 

Sales   Dollars   
% of Net 

Sales   Dollars   
% of Net 

Sales   Dollars   
% of Net 

Sales  

Sales  $ 123,123   100.0%  $ 97,015   100.0%  $
237,78

2    100.0%  $188,859   100.0%

Cost of sales   56,924   46.2%   49,489   51.0%   
111,87

7    47.1%   96,900   51.3%

Gross profit   66,199   53.8%   47,526   49.0%   
125,90

5    52.9%   91,959   48.7%
Selling, general and 
administrative expenses   36,898   30.0%   27,276   28.1%   70,000   29.4%   50,176   26.6%
Transaction expenses   1,984   1.6%   929    1.0%   2,444   1.0%   1,105   0.6%
Other income, net   —   —%   2,867   3.0%   —   —%   2,867   1.5%
Operating income   27,317   22.2%   22,188   22.9%   53,461   22.5%   43,545   23.0%
Interest expense, net   6,481   5.3%   10,636   11.0%   12,940   5.4%   28,370   15.0%
Refinancing costs   —   —%   1,645   1.7%   —   —%   1,645   0.9%
Income before income 
taxes   20,836   16.9%   9,907   10.2%   40,521   17.1%   13,530   7.1%
Income tax provision   (4,123)   (3.3 )%  (2,266)   (2.3 )%  (8,492)   (3.6 )%  (3,640)   (1.9 )%
Net income   16,713   13.6%   7,641   7.9%   32,029   13.5%   9,890   5.2%
Cumulative translation 
adjustments, net of tax   (143)   (0.1 )%  36   —%   (399)   (0.2 )%  204    0.1%
Comprehensive income  $ 16,570   13.5%  $ 7,677   7.9%  $ 31,630   13.3%  $ 10,094   5.3%
Other Data:                         
EBITDA  $ 40,004     $ 31,957     $ 78,606     $ 63,257    
Adjusted EBITDA   47,118      35,031      90,251      68,062    
Net income margin      13.6%      7.9%      13.5%      5.2%
Adjusted EBITDA 
Margin      38.3%      36.1%      38.0%      36.0%

 
(1)Refer to “Non-GAAP Financial Measures” in this management’s discussion and analysis for additional information and limitations regarding these non-
GAAP financial measures, including a reconciliation to the comparable GAAP financial measure.

Financial and Operational Highlights

Three months ended June 30, 2025 compared with three months ended June 30, 2024
 
Net Sales

Net sales for the three months ended June 30, 2025 increased $26.1 million, or 26.9%, to $123.1 million as compared to $97.0 million 
for the three months ended June 30, 2024, as discussed below. 

Net organic sales represent net sales from our existing businesses for comparable periods and exclude net sales from acquisitions. We 
include net sales from new acquisitions in net organic sales from the 13th-month after the acquisition on a comparative basis with the 
prior period. Net acquisition sales for the three months ended June 30, 2025 represent net sales from acquisitions that were completed in 
2024 for which there are no comparable net sales during the prior year. We believe this measure provides an understanding of 
underlying sales trends as it provides net sales comparisons on a consistent basis. We do not believe our net sales are subject to 

(1)

(1)

(1)
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significant seasonal variations. See Note 3, Acquisition of the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for further 
information on the Company’s acquisition activities.

Net Organic Sales 

Net organic sales for the three months ended June 30, 2025 increased $11.0 million or 11.3%, to $108.0 million as compared to $97.0 
million for the three months ended June 30, 2024. The increase in net organic sales was primarily related to increases in OEM total 
commercial sales ($4.8 million, an increase of 15.3%), aftermarket total commercial sales ($4.5 million, an increase of 12.4%), and 
defense sales ($2.2 million, an increase of 10.5%), partially offset by a decline in non-aerospace sales ($0.6 million, a decrease of 7.3%). 
The increase in OEM total commercial sales was driven by increases in demand to support aircraft production for general aviation, wide-
body and narrow-body aircraft. The increase in aftermarket total commercial sales was primarily due to the continuing recovery in 
commercial air travel demand. The increase in defense sales was primarily driven by increased market share due to new product 
launches and an increased demand for defense products globally.

Net Acquisition Sales

Net acquisition sales of $15.1 million for the three months ended June 30, 2025 is made up of AAI which was acquired on August 26, 
2024. This represents 15.6% of the increase in total net sales for the three months ended June 30, 2025 compared to the three months 
ended June 30, 2024.

Gross Profit and Cost of Sales

Cost of sales for the three months ended June 30, 2025 increased $7.4 million, or 15.0%, to $56.9 million compared to $49.5 million for 
the three months ended June 30, 2024 as a result of the increase in sales. Cost of sales and the related percentage of net sales for the three 
months ended June 30, 2025 and 2024 were as follows (in thousands except for percentages):
 

  Three Months Ended June 30,  
  2025   2024   Change  % Change  

Cost of sales - excluding costs below  $ 54,807  $ 48,497  $ 6,310  13.0%
% of net sales   44.5%  50.0%     

Amortization of intangible and other long-term assets   1,187   632    555   87.8%
% of net sales   1.0%  0.6%     

Acquisition and facility integration costs   930    360    570   158.3%
% of net sales   0.8%  0.4%     

Total cost of sales  $ 56,924  $ 49,489  $ 7,435  15.0%
% of net sales   46.2%  51.0%     

Gross profit (Net sales less Total cost of sales)  $ 66,199  $ 47,526  $ 18,673  39.3%
Gross profit percentage (Gross profit / Net sales)   53.8%   49.0%     
 
Cost of sales for the three months ended June 30, 2025 decreased 4.8% as a percentage of net sales to 46.2% from 51.0% in the 
comparable period last year. This decrease is primarily attributable to our operating leverage, execution of strategic value drivers and 
favorable sales mix, partially offset by higher amortization expense for intangible and other long-term assets.

 

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses 

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased by $9.6 million to $36.9 million, or 30.0% as a percentage of net sales, for the 
three months ended June 30, 2025 from $27.3 million, or 28.1% as a percentage of net sales, for the three months ended June 30, 2024. 
Selling, general and administrative expenses and the related percentage of net sales for the three months ended June 30, 2025 and 2024 
were as follows (amounts in thousands except for percentages): 
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  Three Months Ended June 30,  
  2025   2024   Change   % Change  

Selling, general and administrative expenses - excluding 
   costs below  $ 20,643  $ 13,621  $ 7,022   51.6%

% of net sales   16.8%  14.0%      
Amortization of intangible and other long-term assets   8,450   6,407   2,043   31.9%

% of net sales   6.9%  6.6%      
Stock-based compensation expense   3,650   4,387   (737)   (16.8)%

% of net sales   3.0%  4.5%      
Acquisition and facility integration costs   550    265    285    107.5%

% of net sales   0.4%  0.3%      
Research and development expenses   3,605   2,596   1,009   38.9%

% of net sales   2.9%  2.7%      
Total selling, general and administrative expenses  $ 36,898  $ 27,276  $ 9,622   35.3%

% of net sales   30.0%  28.1%      
 

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased by 1.9% as a percentage of net sales for the three months ended June 30, 2025 
when compared to the same period in 2024. This was primarily due to additional costs associated with being a public company including 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act (SOX) compliance and additional organizational costs, amortization of intangible and other long-term assets, and 
research and development expenses, partially offset by lower stock-based compensation expense. During the three months ended June 
30, 2024, we completed the IPO which was an event that triggered the vesting of all outstanding unvested equity units. This resulted in 
the Company recording the then unrecognized stock-based compensation expense of $1.1 million.

Transaction Expenses

Transaction expenses for the three months ended June 30, 2025 and 2024 were $2.0 million and $0.9 million, respectively. During the 
three months ended June 30, 2025, approximately $0.9 million of costs related to the secondary offering were included in transaction 
expenses. Transaction costs can fluctuate depending on the size and number of acquisitions in each year.

Operating Income

Operating income for the three months ended June 30, 2025, was $27.3 million, or 22.2% as a percentage of net sales, compared to 
$22.2 million, or 22.9% as a percentage of net sales for the three months ended June 30, 2024. The increase in operating income is due 
to the factors discussed above.

Interest Expense

Interest expense for the three months ended June 30, 2025 decreased $4.2 million, or 39.1%, to $6.5 million compared to $10.6 million 
for the three months ended June 30, 2024. This decrease was attributable to the repayment of $284.6 million aggregate principal amount 
of the Company's Credit Agreement debt in May 2024 with a portion of the proceeds from our IPO and lower interest rates.

Income Tax Provision

The income tax provision for the three months ended June 30, 2025 was $4.1 million compared to $2.3 million for the three months 
ended June 30, 2024. The increase in income tax provision was primarily driven by an increase in the Company's earnings in 2025 
compared to 2024. 

Net Income

Net income for the three months ended June 30, 2025 was $16.7 million, or 13.6% as a percentage of net sales, compared to net income 
for the three months ended June 30, 2024 of $7.6 million, or 7.9% as a percentage of net sales. The improvement in results is primarily 
due to the factors discussed above.
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Six months ended June 30, 2025 compared with six months ended June 30, 2024
 
Net Sales

Net sales for the six months ended June 30, 2025 increased $48.9 million, or 25.9%, to $237.8 million as compared to $188.9 million for 
the six months ended June 30, 2024, as discussed below. 

Net organic sales represent net sales from our existing businesses for comparable periods and exclude net sales from acquisitions. We 
include net sales from new acquisitions in net organic sales from the 13th-month after the acquisition on a comparative basis with the 
prior period. Net acquisition sales for the six months ended June 30, 2025 represent net sales from acquisitions that were completed in 
2024 and 2025 for which there are no comparable net sales during the prior year. We believe this measure provides an understanding of 
underlying sales trends as it provides net sales comparisons on a consistent basis. We do not believe our net sales are subject to 
significant seasonal variations. See Note 3, Acquisition and Note 10, Commitments and Contingencies of the Notes to Condensed 
Consolidated Financial Statements for further information on the Company’s acquisition activities.

Net Organic Sales 

Net organic sales for the six months ended June 30, 2025 increased $21.2 million, or 11.2%, to $210.1 million as compared to $188.9 
million for the six months ended June 30, 2024. The increase in net organic sales was primarily related to increases in aftermarket total 
commercial sales ($8.8 million, an increase of 12.4%), defense sales ($7.6 million, an increase of 20.3%), and OEM total commercial 
sales ($7.1 million, an increase of 11.0%), partially offset by a decline in non-aerospace sales ($2.3 million, a decrease of 14.2%). The 
increase in aftermarket total commercial sales was primarily due to the continuing recovery in commercial air travel demand. The 
increase in defense sales was primarily driven by increased market share due to new product launches and an increased demand for 
defense products globally. The increase in OEM total commercial sales was driven by increases in demand to support aircraft production 
for general aviation, wide-body and narrow-body aircraft. as an improving supply chain has allowed us to deliver parts that were 
previously held because our customers were experiencing bottlenecks in other areas of their supply chains.

Net Acquisition Sales

Net acquisition sales of $27.7 million for the six months ended June 30, 2025 is made up of AAI which was acquired on August 26, 
2024. This represents 14.7% of the increase in total net sales for the six months ended June 30, 2025 compared to the six months ended 
June 30, 2024.

Gross Profit and Cost of Sales

Cost of sales for the six months ended June 30, 2025 increased $15.0 million, or 15.5%, to $111.9 million compared to $96.9 million for 
the six months ended June 30, 2024 as a result of the increase in sales. Cost of sales and the related percentage of net sales for the six 
months ended June 30, 2025 and 2024 were as follows (in thousands except for percentages):

 
  Six Months Ended June 30,  
  2025   2024   Change  % Change  

Cost of sales - excluding costs below  $ 108,069  $ 94,254  $ 13,815  14.7%
% of net sales   45.4%  49.9%     

Amortization of intangible and other long-term assets   2,339   1,486   853   57.4%

% of net sales   0.9%  0.8%     
Acquisition and facility integration costs   1,469   1,160   309   26.6%

% of net sales   0.6%  0.6%     
Total cost of sales  $ 111,877  $ 96,900  $ 14,977  15.5%

% of net sales   47.1%  51.3%     
Gross profit (Net sales less Total cost of sales)  $ 125,905  $ 91,959  $ 33,946  36.9%
Gross profit percentage (Gross profit / Net sales)   52.9%   48.7%     

Cost of sales for the six months ended June 30, 2025 decreased 4.2% as a percentage of net sales to 47.1% from 51.3% in the 
comparable period last year. This decrease is primarily attributable to our operating leverage, execution of strategic value drivers,  and 
favorable sales mix, partially offset by higher amortization expense for intangible and other long-term assets.

 
Selling, General and Administrative Expenses 

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased by $19.8 million to $70.0 million, or 29.4% as a percentage of net sales, for the 
six months ended June 30, 2025 from $50.2 million, or 26.6% as a percentage of net sales, for the six months ended June 30, 2024. 
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Selling, general and administrative expenses and the related percentage of net sales for the six months ended June 30, 2025 and 2024 
were as follows (amounts in thousands except for percentages): 

 
  Six Months Ended June 30,  
  2025   2024   Change   % Change  

Selling, general and administrative expenses - excluding 
   costs below  $ 38,889  $ 27,326  $ 11,563   42.3%

% of net sales   16.4%  14.5%      
Amortization of intangible and other long-term assets   16,858   12,818   4,040   31.5%

% of net sales   7.1%  6.8%      
Stock-based compensation expense   6,739   4,474   2,265   50.6%

% of net sales   2.8%  2.4%      
Acquisition and facility integration costs   993    933    60   6.4%

% of net sales   0.4%  0.5%      
Research and development expenses   6,521   4,625   1,896   41.0%

% of net sales   2.8%  2.4%      
Total selling, general and administrative expenses  $ 70,000  $ 50,176  $ 19,824   39.5%

% of net sales   29.4%  26.6%      
 

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased by 2.8% as a percentage of net sales for the six months ended June 30, 2025 when 
compared to the same period in 2024. This was due to additional costs associated with being a public company including SOX 
compliance and additional organizational costs, amortization of intangible and other long-term assets, stock-based compensation 
expense, and research and development expenses,.

Transaction Expenses

Transaction expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2025 and 2024 were $2.4 million and $1.1 million, respectively. During the six 
months ended June 30, 2025, approximately $0.9 million of costs related to the secondary offering were included in transaction 
expenses. Transaction costs can fluctuate depending on the size and number of acquisitions in each year.

Operating Income

Operating income for the six months ended June 30, 2025, was $53.5 million, or 22.5% as a percentage of net sales, compared to $43.5 
million, or 23.0% as a percentage of net sales for the six months ended June 30, 2024. The increase in operating income is due to the 
factors discussed above.

Interest Expense

Interest expense for the six months ended June 30, 2025 decreased $15.4 million, or 54.4%, to $12.9 million compared to $28.4 million 
for the six months ended June 30, 2024. This decrease was attributable to the repayment of $284.6 million aggregate principal amount of 
the Company's Credit Agreement debt in May 2024 with a portion of the proceeds from our IPO and lower interest rates.

Income Tax Provision

The income tax provision for the six months ended June 30, 2025 was $8.5 million compared to $3.6 million for the six months ended 
June 30, 2024. The increase in income tax provision was primarily driven by an increase in the Company's earnings in 2025 compared to 
2024. 

Net Income

Net income for the six months ended June 30, 2025 was $32.0 million, or 13.5% as a percentage of net sales, compared to net income 
for the six months ended June 30, 2024 of $9.9 million, or 5.2% as a percentage of net sales. The improvement in results is primarily due 
to the factors discussed above.

 

 

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The following table summarizes our capitalization as of June 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024 (in thousands, unless otherwise 
indicated):
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  June 30, 2025   December 31, 2024  
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 103,342   $ 54,066  
Debt:       

Credit Agreement debt (including current portion)   281,366    281,366  
Less: unamortized debt issuance costs   (3,697 )   (4,073 )
Finance lease liabilities (including current portion)

  3,291    3,402  
Total debt   280,960    280,695  
Stockholders' equity   1,128,733    1,088,505  
Total capitalization (debt plus equity)   1,409,693    1,369,200  
Total debt to total capitalization   20 %  21 %

 
Our principal historical liquidity requirements have been for acquisitions, capital expenditures, servicing indebtedness and working 
capital needs. We fund our investing activities primarily from cash provided by our operating and financing activities. As of June 30, 
2025, we had availability of $100 million of a delayed draw term loan commitment and a $50 million revolving line of credit. Based on 
our current outlook, we believe that net cash provided by operating activities and available borrowings under our Credit Agreement will 
be sufficient to fund our cash requirements for at least the next twelve months. As we continue to expand our business, including 
through acquisitions we may make, we may in the future require additional working capital for increased costs. See “Credit Agreement” 
(below) for additional detail regarding our financing activities.

Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities in the six months ended June 30, 2025 and 2024 was $52.2 million and $17.9 million, 
respectively. The $34.3 million increase was primarily driven by an increase in net income of $22.1 million and the increase in non-cash 
operating items of approximately $12.0 million.

Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities in the six months ended June 30, 2025 and 2024 of $4.7 million and $3.8 million, respectively, was 
principally related to capital expenditures.

Financing Activities

Net cash provided by financing activities in the six months ended June 30, 2025 of $1.7 million related primarily to stock option 
exercises. Net cash provided by financing activities in the six months ended June 30, 2024 of $37.6 million was principally related to 
proceeds from the Company's IPO of $325.7 million, offset by payments on our Credit Agreement of $286.3 million and financing 
leases.

Credit Agreement

The Company’s long-term debt consists primarily of borrowings under its Credit Agreement.

On March 26, 2024, the Credit Agreement was amended to extend the termination date of the delayed draw term loan commitment by 
approximately nine months, extending it from April 1, 2024 to December 31, 2024. 
On April 10, 2024, the Credit Agreement was amended to permit certain non-pro rata open market purchases of term loans pursuant to 
open market purchases. In addition, we also entered into that certain Master Open Market Purchase Agreement, by and between affiliates 
of lender and the Company (Master Open Market Purchase Agreement) to repurchase term loans on a non-pro rata basis subject to 
certain conditions as set forth therein.

On May 3, 2024, a portion of the net proceeds from the IPO was used to repay $284.6 million aggregate principal amount of
term loans under the Credit Agreement plus accrued interest of $0.3 million. We wrote-off $0.8 million in unamortized debt issuance 
costs and expensed $0.8 million in refinancing costs associated with the amendment of the Credit Agreement during the three and six 
months ended June 30, 2024.

On May 10, 2024, the Credit Agreement was amended to extend the maturity date to May 10, 2030 from April 2, 2026 and reduce the 
applicable margin by between 2.0 and 2.5 percentage points based on the Company’s leverage ratio. At our election, interest on loans 
will accrue at the SOFR rate plus the applicable margin of 4.75% or at the base rate plus the applicable margin of 3.75% as long as the 
leverage ratio of less than 5.5 to 1 is maintained. Also, the existing availability under the delayed draw term loan commitment was 
increased to $100 million, which terminates if not drawn upon by May 10, 2026. In addition, the existing revolving line of credit under 
the Credit Agreement was replaced with a new revolving credit commitment of $50 million. The unused portion of the revolving line of 
credit carries a commitment fee of 0.375%. Loans outstanding under the revolving line of credit, if any, mature on May 10, 2029. Debt 
issuance costs associated with the amendment of approximately $0.9 million were capitalized during the three and six months ended 
June 30, 2024.
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On August 26, 2024, the Credit Agreement was amended to make available an incremental term loan in an aggregate principal amount 
equal to $360 million for purposes of (i) paying a portion of the consideration payable by it pursuant to the terms of that certain purchase 
agreement (the "Purchase Agreement") pursuant to which the Company agreed to purchase from AAI Parent all the issued and 
outstanding equity interests of AAI, (ii) paying fees and expenses incurred in connection with the foregoing, and (iii) otherwise to fund 
working capital and general corporate purposes. 

On December 17, 2024, the net proceeds from the Follow-on Offering and cash from operations were used to repay $330.0 million 
aggregate principal amount of term loans under the Credit Agreement plus accrued interest of $1.5 million. Unamortized debt issuance 
costs $4.8 million were written off as a result.

On March 7, 2025, in connection with the pending LMB acquisition expected to close in the third quarter of 2025, we entered into the 
Commitment Letter (as amended and restated). See above under “—Recent Developments.”

At June 30, 2025, there was $281.4 million outstanding under the Credit Agreement, and there remained availability of $100.0 million 
in delayed draw term loan commitments and $50.0 million in revolving line of credit.

Other Obligations and Commitments

We have future obligations under various contracts relating to debt and interest payments, finance and operating leases and our post-
retirement benefit plan. During the six months ended June 30, 2025, there were no material changes to these obligations, other than the 
pending LMB acquisition discussed under “—Recent Developments”. For a description of our other obligations and commitments, see 
our December 31, 2024 consolidated financial statements reported in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended 
December 31, 2024, filed on March 31, 2025.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of June 30, 2025, we did not have any off-balance sheet arrangements, as defined in Regulation S-K, that have or are reasonably 
likely to have a current or future effect on our financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows.

Critical Accounting Estimates

Our condensed consolidated unaudited financial statements have been prepared in conformity with U.S. GAAP for interim financial 
statements and include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries. Often, management’s judgment is needed in the selection and 
application of certain accounting policies and methods. However, investors are cautioned that the sensitivity of financial statements to 
these methods, assumptions and estimates could create materially different results under different conditions or using different 
assumptions.

A complete and comprehensive discussion of our most critical accounting policies that require management to make judgments about 
matters that are inherently uncertain was included in Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 
Operations– Critical Accounting Estimates disclosed in Item 7 of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 
2024 which was filed on March 31, 2025. Refer to Note 2, Basis of Presentation, of the notes to the condensed consolidated financial 
statements included herein for updates to disclosures of accounting standards recently adopted or required to be adopted in the future.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

We present below certain financial information based on our EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA, and Adjusted EBITDA Margin. References 
to “EBITDA” mean earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization, references to “Adjusted EBITDA” mean EBITDA 
plus, as applicable for each relevant period, certain adjustments as set forth in the reconciliations of net income to EBITDA and 
Adjusted EBITDA, and references to “Adjusted EBITDA Margin” refer to Adjusted EBITDA divided by net sales. EBITDA, Adjusted 
EBITDA, and Adjusted EBITDA Margin are not measurements of financial performance under U.S. GAAP. We present EBITDA, 
Adjusted EBITDA, and Adjusted EBITDA Margin because we believe they are useful indicators for evaluating operating performance. 
In addition, our management uses Adjusted EBITDA to review and assess the performance of the management team in connection with 
employee incentive programs and to prepare its annual budget and financial projections. Moreover, our management uses Adjusted 
EBITDA of target companies to evaluate acquisitions.

Although we use EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA, and Adjusted EBITDA Margin as measures to assess the performance of our business 
and for the other purposes set forth above, the use of non-GAAP financial measures as analytical tools has limitations, and you should 
not consider any of them in isolation, or as a substitute for analysis of our results of operations as reported in accordance with U.S. 
GAAP. Some of these limitations are:
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•EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA, and Adjusted EBITDA Margin do not reflect the significant interest expense, or the cash 
requirements, necessary to service interest payments on our indebtedness;

•although depreciation and amortization are non-cash charges, the assets being depreciated and amortized will often have to be 
replaced in the future, and the cash requirements for such replacements are not reflected in EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA, and 
Adjusted EBITDA Margin;

•EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA, and Adjusted EBITDA Margin exclude the cash expense we have incurred to integrate acquired 
businesses into our operations, which is a necessary element of certain of our acquisitions;

•the omission of the substantial amortization expense associated with our intangible assets further limits the usefulness of EBITDA, 
Adjusted EBITDA, and Adjusted EBITDA Margin; and

•EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA, and Adjusted EBITDA Margin do not include the payment of taxes, which is a necessary element of 
our operations.

Because of these limitations, EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA, and Adjusted EBITDA Margin should not be considered as measures of cash 
available to us to invest in the growth of our business. Management compensates for these limitations by not viewing EBITDA, 
Adjusted EBITDA, and Adjusted EBITDA Margin in isolation and specifically by using other U.S. GAAP measures, such as net sales 
and operating profit, to measure our operating performance. EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA, and Adjusted EBITDA Margin are not 
measurements of financial performance under U.S. GAAP, and they should not be considered as alternatives to net income or cash flow 
from operations determined in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Our calculations of EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA, and Adjusted EBITDA 
Margin may not be comparable to the calculations of similarly titled measures reported by other companies.

The following table sets forth a reconciliation of net income to EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA, and Adjusted EBITDA Margin for the 
three and six months ended June 30, 2025 and 2024 (in thousands unless otherwise indicated):
 
 

  Three Months Ended June 30,   Six Months Ended June 30,  
  2025   2024   2025   2024  

Net income  $ 16,713  $ 7,641  $ 32,029  $ 9,890 
Adjustments:             

Interest expense, net   6,481   10,636   12,940   28,370 
Refinancing costs   —   1,645   —   1,645 
Income tax provision   4,123   2,266   8,492   3,640 

Operating income   27,317   22,188   53,461   43,545 
Depreciation   3,050   2,730   5,948   5,408 
Amortization   9,637   7,039   19,197   14,304 

EBITDA   40,004   31,957   78,606   63,257 
Adjustments:             

Other income, net   —   (2,867)   —   (2,867)
Transaction expenses   1,984   929    2,444   1,105 
Stock-based compensation   3,650   4,387   6,739   4,474 
Acquisition and facility integration costs   1,480   625    2,462   2,093 

Adjusted EBITDA  $ 47,118  $ 35,031  $ 90,251  $ 68,062 
Net sales  $ 123,123  $ 97,015  $ 237,782  $ 188,859 
Net income margin   13.6%  7.9%  13.5%  5.2%
Adjusted EBITDA Margin   38.3%  36.1%  38.0%  36.0%

 

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)
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(1)For the three and six months ended June 30, 2024, represents the reduction in the estimated contingent purchase price for the CAV acquisition.
(2)Represents third party transaction-related costs for acquisitions comprising deal fees, legal, financial and tax due diligence expenses, and valuation costs 
that are required to be expensed as incurred. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2025, approximately $0.9 million of costs related to the 
secondary stock offering from which we did not receive any proceeds were also included in transaction expenses.
(3)Represents the non-cash compensation expense recognized by the Company for equity awards.
(4)Represents costs incurred to integrate acquired businesses and product lines into our operations, facility relocation costs and other acquisition-related 
costs.

JOBS Act Election

We are currently an “emerging growth company,” as defined in the JOBS Act. Under the JOBS Act, emerging growth companies can 
delay adopting new or revised accounting standards until such time as those standards apply to private companies. We have elected to 
use this extended transition period for complying with new or revised accounting standards that have different effective dates for public 
and private companies until the earlier of the date we (i) are no longer an emerging growth company or (ii) affirmatively and irrevocably 
opt out of the extended transition period provided in the JOBS Act. As a result, our financial statements may not be comparable to 
companies that comply with new or revised accounting pronouncements as of public company effective dates.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

The Company's market risks are described more fully within Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk in Part II, Item 
7A of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024, filed on March 31, 2025. These market risks have not 
materially changed for the six months ended June 30, 2025.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

We completed our initial public offering on April 29, 2024 and as such are required to comply with the SEC’s rules in Section 302 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act, requiring our management to certify financial and other information in our quarterly and annual reports and 
provide an annual management report on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. Though we will be required to 
disclose material changes made to our internal controls and procedures on a quarterly basis, we will not be required to make our first 
assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting under Section 404 until our second annual report on Form 
10-K after we became a public company, which will be for our fiscal year ending December 31, 2025.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the three months ended June 
30, 2025 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial 
reporting.
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PART II—OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

None.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

In addition to the other information set forth in this report, you should carefully consider the risk factors disclosed in Part I, Item 1A of 
our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024, filed on March 31, 2025.
 

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

Not applicable.

Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities 

Not applicable.

 Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.

Item 5. Other Information

Securities Trading Plans of Directors or Executive Officers 

(c) During the three months ended June 30, 2025, none of our directors or officers (as defined in Rule 16a-1(f) of the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) adopted, terminated or modified a Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement or any “non-Rule 10b5-1 
trading agreement” (as defined in Item 408(c) of Regulation S-K).
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Item 6. Exhibits
 

Exhibit
Number  Description

3.1  Certificate of Incorporation of Loar Holdings Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company's Amendment 
No. 1 to Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on April 17, 2024).

3.2  By laws of Loar Holdings Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Company's Amendment No. 1 to Registration 
Statement on Form S-1 filed on April 17, 2024).

 
10.1  Waiver to the Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of May 13, 2025, by and among Loar Holdings Inc. and each of the 

investors listed on the signature pages thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Current Report 
on Form 8-K filed on May 19, 2025).

10.2†
 

 Loar Holdings Inc. Amended and Restated 2024 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Appendix A to the 
Company’s Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed on April 22, 2025).

10.3*  Amended and Restated Commitment Letter, dated July 29, 2025, by Loar Group Inc. with Blackstone Alternative Credit 
Advisors LP (on behalf of the funds, accounts and clients managed, advised or sub-advised by it or its affiliates).

10.4*  Seventeenth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of August 1, 2025, by and among Loar Group Inc., Loar Holdings 
Inc., the other guarantors party thereto from time to time, the lenders party thereto from time to time, First Eagle Alternative 
Credit, LLC, as administrative agent for the lenders and as collateral agent for the secured parties, and Citibank, N.A., as the 
revolving administrative agent.

31.1*  Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2*  Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1*  Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.2*  Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

 
101.INS  Inline XBRL Instance Document – the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because XBRL tags 

are embedded within the Inline XBRL document.
101.SCH  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema With Embedded Linkbase Documents.
104  Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL document).
 
 
 

* Filed herewith.
† Compensatory arrangements for director(s) and/or executive officer(s). 
 
 
 
 

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/2000178/000119312524098495/d551112dex31.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/2000178/000119312524098495/d551112dex32.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/2000178/000119312525122504/d876671dex101.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/2000178/000119312525087948/d887875ddef14a.htm
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its 
behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.
 
  Loar Holdings Inc.
    
Date: August 13, 2025  By: /s/ Glenn D'Alessandro
   Glenn D’Alessandro
   Treasurer and Chief Financial Officer
   (principal financial and accounting officer)
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BLACKSTONE ALTERNATIVE 

CREDIT ADVISORS LP
345 Park Avenue

New York, New York 10154
 

 

 

CONFIDENTIAL

July 29, 2025

Loar Group Inc.
450_Lexington_Avenue,_4th_Floor
New_York,_NY_10017
Attention:  Glenn D’Alessandro 
 

Project Jetstream
Incremental Term Facility 

Amended and Restated Commitment Letter
 

Ladies and Gentlemen:

Loar Group Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Borrower” or “you”), has advised Blackstone 
Alternative Credit Advisors LP (on behalf of the funds, accounts and clients managed or advised or sub-
advised by it or its affiliates, “Blackstone”, and collectively with the funds, accounts and clients 
managed or advised or sub-advised by it or its affiliates, the “Commitment Parties”, “we” or “us”; 
provided, however, that in no event shall Commitment Parties include any affiliates of Blackstone that 
are engaged as principals primarily in private equity or venture capital (“Restricted Affiliates”)) that 
(a) the Borrower intends to acquire (the “Acquisition”), directly or indirectly (including by one or more 
acquisitions of direct or indirect equity interests, mergers and/or other means), the Transferred 
Securities (as defined in the Acquisition Agreement) of (i) ASC3 LMB TopCo, a société par actions 
simplifiée organized under the laws of France and (ii) ASC3 LMB FinCo, a société par actions 
simplifiée organized under the laws of France (collectively, the “Target”, and together with their 
subsidiaries, the Acquired Business”) pursuant to that certain Securities Purchase Agreement, in the 
form attached as Exhibit 2 to that certain Put Option agreement dated as of the Original Signing Date (as 
defined below) (the “Put Option”), by and among you, Loar Holdings Inc., a Delaware corporation 
(“Holdings”) and the Sellers (as defined therein) from time to time party thereto (such Securities 
Purchase Agreement, together with the schedules and exhibits thereto and as may be amended, amended 
and restated, modified, supplemented or waived from time to time in accordance with Exhibit C to this 
Commitment Letter, the “Acquisition Agreement”); (b) you intend to incur the Dollar Equivalent (as 
defined in Exhibit B) of 400.0 million Euros of incremental term loans (the “Incremental Term 
Facility”) under the Credit Agreement, dated as of October 2, 2017, by and among Holdings, the 
Borrower, the other Guarantors from time to time party thereto, the Lenders from time to time party 
thereto and First Eagle Alternative Credit, LLC (as successor by merger to First Eagle Private Credit 
(f/k/a/ Newstar Financial Inc.)), as administrative agent for the Lenders and as collateral agent for the 
Secured Parties and Citibank, N.A., as administrative agent for the Revolving Credit Lenders, and, as 
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time (the “Credit Agreement”), to fund the 
Acquisition; and (c) you intend to, directly or indirectly, consummate the other transactions described in 
Exhibit A hereto.  Capitalized terms 
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used but not defined herein have the meanings assigned to them in the Exhibits attached hereto or in the 
Credit Agreement, as applicable.

1.  Commitments.

 In connection with the Transactions, Blackstone hereby commits to provide 100% of the Incremental 
Term Facility (in such capacity, the “Initial Incremental Lender”) upon the terms set forth in this 
commitment letter and Exhibit B hereto and subject only to the conditions set forth in Exhibit C of this 
commitment letter (this commitment letter, together with the Exhibits attached hereto, is referred to 
herein as the “Commitment Letter”).  Prior to the funding of the Incremental Term Loans on the 
Incremental Closing Date, the Initial Incremental Lender will not (other than to any of the other 
Commitment Parties) assign, syndicate or participate its commitments in respect of the Incremental 
Term Facility without your prior written consent (which may be withheld in your sole discretion).  
Without limiting the prohibitions on assignments set forth herein, (a) unless you agree in writing in your 
sole discretion, each of the Commitment Parties shall retain exclusive control over all rights and 
obligations with respect to its commitments in respect of the Incremental Term Facility, including all 
rights with respect to any consent, waiver, modification, supplement and/or amendment, until the 
Incremental Closing Date has occurred and (b) no syndication, assignment, participation or other 
transfer of any of its commitments in respect of the Incremental Term Facility by any Commitment 
Party shall be permitted or otherwise become effective until after the Incremental Closing Date has 
occurred unless you agree in writing in your sole discretion.

2.  Titles and Roles.

It is agreed that Blackstone will act as lead arranger for the Incremental Term Facility (in such 
capacity, the “Lead Arranger”) and will hold the roles and responsibilities conventionally understood 
to be associated with such designation.  No other arrangers, bookrunners, managers, agents or co-agents 
will be appointed, no other titles will be awarded and no compensation (other than that expressly 
contemplated by the Commitment Letter and the Incremental Fee Letter (as defined below)) will be 
paid in connection with the Incremental Term Facility unless you and we so agree. 

3.  [Reserved].

4.  Information.

You hereby represent and warrant that (it being understood that the accuracy of such 
representation and warranty shall not be a condition to the commitments hereunder or to the funding of 
the Incremental Term Facility on the Incremental Closing Date) (a) (with respect to information 
provided by or relating to the Target or its subsidiaries, to the best of your knowledge) all written 
information and written data (such information and data, other than (i) any projections that have been 
made available to us by you in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby (including 
financial estimates, budgets, forecasts and other forward-looking information, the “Projections”), and 
(ii) information of a general economic or general industry nature, the “Information”) that have been or 
will be made available to the Commitment Parties by, or on behalf of, you, taken as a whole, does not or 
will not, when furnished, contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 
necessary in order to make the statements contained therein not materially misleading in light of the 
circumstances under which such statements are made (after giving effect to all supplements and updates 
thereto) and (b) the Projections that have been or will be made available to the Commitment Parties by, 
or on behalf of, you have been or will be prepared in good faith based upon assumptions that are 
believed by you to be reasonable at the time any such Projections are delivered to the Commitment 
Parties; it being understood that any such Projections are not to be viewed as facts, are subject to 
significant uncertainties and contingencies, many of which are beyond your control, that no assurance 
can be given that any particular Projections will be realized, that actual results may differ significantly 
from the 
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projected results and that such differences may be material. You agree that, if at any time prior to the 
Incremental Closing Date, you become aware that any of the representations and warranties in the 
preceding sentence would be incorrect in any material respect if the Information and Projections were 
being furnished, and such representations and warranties were being made, at such time, then you will 
(i) with respect to Information or Projections relating to you or your subsidiaries, promptly supplement 
the Information or the Projections, as applicable and (ii) with respect to Information or Projections 
provided by or relating to the Target or its subsidiaries, use commercially reasonable efforts (only to the 
extent practical and appropriate and in all instances not in contravention of the terms of the Acquisition 
Agreement as in effect on the date hereof) to promptly supplement the Information and the Projections 
from time to time until the Incremental Closing Date, so that such representations will be correct in all 
material respects (with respect to information provided by or relating to the Target and its subsidiaries 
provided at any time on or prior to the Incremental Closing Date, to your knowledge) under those 
circumstances; provided, that any such supplementation shall cure any breach of such representations. 
In providing their commitments hereunder, the Commitment Parties will be entitled to use and rely on 
the Information and the Projections without responsibility for independent verification thereof and does 
not assume responsibility for the accuracy or completeness thereof. 

5.  Fees.

As consideration for the commitments of the Initial Incremental Lender hereunder, you agree to 
pay the fees set forth in the amended and restated fee letter of even date herewith addressed to you 
providing, among other things, for certain fees relating to the Incremental Term Facility (as may be 
amended, amended and restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, the 
“Incremental Fee Letter”). Once paid, such fees shall not be refundable under any circumstances, 
except as otherwise contemplated by the Incremental Fee Letter or agreed in writing by the parties 
hereto. The fees set forth in the Incremental Fee Letter are being paid to the Commitment Parties as 
consideration for their commitment to provide capital in respect of the Incremental Term Facility under 
this Commitment Letter, and not in exchange for the Lead Arranger’s services.

6.  Conditions Precedent.

The commitments of the Initial Incremental Lender hereunder are subject only to the conditions 
set forth in Exhibit C; it being understood that there are no conditions (implied or otherwise) to the 
commitments hereunder (including compliance with the terms of this Commitment Letter, the 
Incremental Fee Letter and the Incremental Term Facility Documentation) other than those conditions 
set forth in Exhibit C that are expressly stated to be conditions to the availability of, and funding under, 
the Incremental Term Facility on the Incremental Closing Date (and upon satisfaction or waiver of such 
conditions, the funding under the Incremental Term Facility shall occur).

The Borrower hereby elects, pursuant to Section 1.06 of the Credit Agreement, that the 
Transactions are Limited Condition Transactions (as defined in the Credit Agreement) and that the 
Limited Conditionality Test Date (as defined in the Credit Agreement) with respect thereto shall be the 
Original Signing Date (the “LMB Limited Conditionality Test Date”). Notwithstanding anything to 
the contrary in this Commitment Letter, the Incremental Fee Letter, the Incremental Term Facility 
Documentation or any other letter agreement or other undertaking concerning the financing of the 
Transactions, (i) the only representations and warranties made on the Incremental Closing Date, the 
accuracy of which shall be a condition to the availability of, and funding under, the Incremental Term 
Facility on such date, shall be the Specified Credit Agreement Representations (as defined in the Credit 
Agreement provided, that, (I) each reference to the “Closing Date” set forth in such definition shall be a 
reference to the LMB Limited Conditionality Test Date and (II) each reference to the “Loans” set forth 
in such definition shall be a reference to the Incremental Term Loans) (the Specified Credit Agreement 
Representations as so modified, the “Specified LMB Representations”) and (ii) the terms of the 
Incremental Term Facility Documentation and the Closing 
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Deliverables shall be in a form such that they do not impair the availability of, and funding under, the 
Incremental Term Facility on the Incremental Closing Date if the conditions expressly set forth in 
Exhibit C are satisfied (it being understood and agreed that, in accordance with the Credit Agreement, 
the Target is not required to become a Loan Party and the assets of the Acquired Business will not 
constitute Collateral). This paragraph shall be referred to herein as the “Limited Conditionality 
Provision”.   

7.  Indemnification; Expenses.

You agree (a) to indemnify and hold harmless each of the Commitment Parties and each of their 
respective affiliates and controlling persons and the respective officers, directors, employees, partners, 
advisors, agents, and representatives of each of the foregoing and their respective successors and 
permitted assigns (each, an “Indemnified Person”) from and against any and all losses, claims, 
damages, liabilities and out-of-pocket expenses, joint or several, to which any such Indemnified Person 
may become subject arising out of, resulting from or in connection with any actual or threatened claim, 
litigation, investigation or proceeding relating to this Commitment Letter, the Existing Commitment 
Letter, the Incremental Fee Letter, the Incremental Fee Letter (as defined in the Existing Commitment 
Letter) (the “Existing Incremental Fee Letter”), the Transactions or the Incremental Term Facility 
(any of the foregoing, an “Action”) and regardless of whether brought by you or any of your affiliates or 
any other person or against any person, regardless of whether any such Indemnified Person is a party 
thereto, and to reimburse each such Indemnified Person promptly and in any event within 30 days after 
receipt of a written request together with reasonably detailed backup documentation for any reasonable 
and documented out-of-pocket legal fees and expenses (including the reasonable and documented fees, 
charges and disbursements of any counsel to the Indemnified Persons (excluding allocated costs of 
internal counsel) (limited to one primary outside counsel for all Indemnified Persons and one special or 
local counsel in each relevant jurisdiction and, in the case of an actual conflict of interest of another 
firm of counsel for all such affected Indemnified Persons)) or other reasonable and documented out-of-
pocket expenses incurred in connection with investigating, or defending any of the foregoing; provided, 
that the foregoing indemnity will not, as to any Indemnified Person, be available to the extent that such 
losses, claims, damages, liabilities or expenses (x) are determined by a court of competent jurisdiction 
by final and non-appealable judgment to have resulted from the gross negligence, bad faith or willful 
misconduct of such Indemnified Person (or such Indemnified Person’s Related Parties), (y) are 
attributable to a material breach of such Indemnified Person (or such Indemnified Person’s Related 
Parties) of its obligations under this Commitment Letter, the Existing Commitment Letter, the 
Incremental Fee Letter, the Existing Incremental Fee Letter or the Incremental Term Facility 
Documentation or (z) relate to disputes solely among or between Indemnified Persons other than claims 
against any Commitment Party in its capacity or in fulfilling its role as an arranger or any similar role 
under the Incremental Term Facility and other than any claims arising out of any act or omission on the 
part of you or your affiliates (as determined by a court of competent jurisdiction in a final and non-
appealable judgment) and (b) to reimburse the Commitment Parties, upon presentation of a summary 
statement, together with any supporting documentation reasonably requested by you, for all reasonable 
and documented out-of-pocket expenses (including but not limited to out-of-pocket expenses of such 
Initial Incremental Lender’s due diligence investigation and reasonable fees, disbursements and other 
charges of (x) one counsel for the Administrative Agent, (y) one counsel for the Initial Incremental 
Lender and (z) one local counsel of the Administrative Agent and the Initial Incremental Lender in each 
applicable jurisdiction and, if reasonably necessary any special or regulatory counsel of the 
Administrative Agent and the Initial Incremental Lender), in each case incurred in connection with the 
Incremental Term Facility and the preparation of this Commitment Letter, the Existing Commitment 
Letter, the Incremental Fee Letter, the Existing Incremental Fee Letter, the Incremental Term Facility 
Documentation and any security arrangements in connection therewith (collectively, the “Expenses”); 
provided that, you shall not be required to reimburse any of the Expenses in the event the Incremental 
Closing Date does not occur. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Commitment Letter, (i) except 
to the extent arising from an Indemnified Person’s gross negligence or willful misconduct, no 
Indemnified Person shall be liable for any damages arising from the use by unintended recipients of any 
information or other materials 
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distributed by it through telecommunications, electronic or other information transmission systems in 
connection with this Commitment Letter, the Existing Commitment Letter, the Incremental Fee Letter, 
the Existing Incremental Fee Letter, the Transactions or the Incremental Term Facility and (ii) no 
Indemnified Person shall assert, and each Indemnified Person hereby waives, any claim against any 
Loan Party or any Related Party of any Loan Party, on any theory of liability, for special, indirect, 
consequential or punitive damages (as opposed to direct or actual damages) arising out of, in connection 
with, or as a result of, this Commitment Letter, the Existing Commitment Letter, the Incremental Fee 
Letter, the Existing Incremental Fee Letter, the Incremental Term Facility, the Transactions (including 
the Incremental Term Facility and the use of proceeds thereunder), or with respect to any activities 
related to the Incremental Term Facility; provided that nothing in the foregoing clause (ii) shall limit the 
indemnification  and reimbursement obligations of any Loan Party or any Related Party of a Loan Party 
to the extent such special, indirect, consequential or punitive damages are included in any third party 
claim with respect to which such Indemnified Person is entitled to indemnification hereunder. You shall 
not be liable for any settlement, compromise or consent to the entry of any judgment in any Action 
effected without your consent (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed), but if 
settled with your written consent or if there is a final non-appealable judgment in any such Action with 
your written consent, you agree to indemnify and hold harmless each Indemnified Person from and 
against any and all losses, claims, damages, liabilities and expenses by reason of such settlement or 
judgment in accordance with this Section 7. You shall not, without the prior written consent of the 
affected Indemnified Person (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, delayed or 
conditioned), effect any settlement of any pending or threatened Action against such Indemnified 
Person in respect of which indemnity has been sought hereunder by such Indemnified Person unless 
such settlement (i) includes an unconditional release of such Indemnified Person in form and substance 
reasonably satisfactory to such Indemnified Person (which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, 
delayed or conditioned) from all liability or claims that are the subject matter of such Action and (ii) 
does not include any statement as to any admission of fault, culpability or a failure to act by or on behalf 
of such Indemnified Person. Notwithstanding the foregoing, each Indemnified Person shall be obligated 
to refund and return promptly any and all amounts paid by you or any of your affiliates under this 
Section 7 to such Indemnified Person for any such losses, claims, damages, liabilities or expenses to the 
extent such Indemnified Person is not entitled to payment of such amounts in accordance with the terms 
hereof, as determined by a court of competent jurisdiction by a final and non-appealable judgment.

8.  Sharing Information; Absence of Fiduciary Relationship; Affiliate Activities.

You acknowledge that the Commitment Parties and their affiliates may be providing debt 
financing, equity capital or other services (including, without limitation, investment banking and 
financial advisory services, securities trading, hedging, financing and brokerage activities and financial 
planning and benefits counseling) to other companies in respect of which you may have conflicting 
interests. We will not furnish confidential information obtained from you by virtue of the transactions 
contemplated by this Commitment Letter or our other relationships with you to other companies (except 
as contemplated in Section 12 below). You also acknowledge that we do not have any obligation to use 
in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Commitment Letter, or to furnish to you, 
confidential information obtained by us or any of our respective affiliates from other companies.

You further acknowledge and agree that (a) no fiduciary, advisory or agency relationship 
between you and any Commitment Party is intended to be or has been created in respect of any of the 
transactions contemplated by this Commitment Letter, irrespective of whether such Commitment Party 
has advised or is advising you on other matters, (b) each Commitment Party, on the one hand, and you, 
on the other hand, have an arm’s-length business relationship that does not directly or indirectly give 
rise to, nor do you rely on, any fiduciary duty on the part of such Commitment Party and you waive, to 
the fullest extent permitted by law, any claims you may have against us for breach of fiduciary duty or 
alleged breach of fiduciary duty in connection with the Transactions and agree that we will have no 
liability (whether direct or indirect) to you 
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in respect of such a fiduciary duty claim or to any person asserting a fiduciary duty claim on your 
behalf, including equity holders, employees or creditors, (c) you are capable of evaluating and 
understanding, and you understand and accept, the terms, risks and conditions of the transactions 
contemplated by this Commitment Letter and you have consulted with your own legal, accounting, 
regulatory, tax and financial advisors to the extent you have deemed appropriate, (d) you have been 
advised that each Commitment Party and its affiliates is engaged in a broad range of transactions that 
may involve interests that differ from your interests and that no Commitment Party has an obligation to 
disclose such interests and transactions to you by virtue of any fiduciary, advisory or agency 
relationship and (e) each Commitment Party has been, is and will be acting solely as a principal and 
except as otherwise expressly agreed in writing by the relevant parties, has not been, is not and will not 
be acting as an advisor, agent or fiduciary for you, any of your affiliates or any other person or entity. In 
addition, the Commitment Parties may employ the services of their respective affiliates or branches in 
providing certain services hereunder and may exchange with such affiliates or branches information in 
connection therewith concerning you, the Target and your and its respective subsidiaries, and such 
affiliates shall be entitled to the benefits afforded to, and subject to the obligations of, the Commitment 
Parties hereunder, but no Commitment Party shall be relieved of its obligations under this Commitment 
Letter. You acknowledge and agree that neither we nor our affiliates have provided you with legal, tax, 
regulatory, financial or accounting advice and that you have obtained such independent advice from 
your own advisors to the extent you have deemed appropriate.

As you know, in the ordinary course of business, each Commitment Party may acquire, hold or 
sell, for its own accounts and the accounts of customers, equity, debt and other securities and financial 
instruments (including bank loans and other obligations) of you, the Target and your and its respective 
subsidiaries and other companies with which you, the Target, the Sponsor or your or their respective 
subsidiaries may have commercial or other relationships. With respect to any securities and/or financial 
instruments so held by the Commitment Parties, their respective affiliates or any of their respective 
customers, all rights in respect of such securities and financial instruments, including any voting rights, 
will be exercised by the holder of the rights, in its sole discretion.

9.  Assignments; Amendments; Governing Law, Etc.

This Commitment Letter, the Incremental Fee Letter and the commitments hereunder shall not 
be assignable by any party hereto without the prior written consent of each other party hereto (and any 
attempted assignment without such consent shall be null and void), are intended to be solely for the 
benefit of the parties hereto and their permitted successors and assigns (and Indemnified Persons), are 
not intended to confer any benefits upon, or create any rights in favor of, any person other than the 
parties hereto and their permitted successors and assigns (and Indemnified Persons) and are not intended 
to create a fiduciary relationship among the parties hereto. Any and all services to be provided by the 
Commitment Parties hereunder may be performed by or through any of their respective affiliates or 
branches and the provisions of Section 7 shall apply with equal force and effect to any such entities so 
performing any such duties or activities, but no Commitment Party shall be relieved of its obligations 
under this Commitment Letter. This Commitment Letter may not be amended or any provision hereof 
waived or modified except by an instrument in writing signed by the Commitment Parties and you. This 
Commitment Letter may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be an original 
and all of which, when taken together, shall constitute one agreement. Delivery of an executed 
counterpart of a signature page of this Commitment Letter by facsimile transmission or by “.pdf” or 
similar electronic transmission shall be effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart hereof. 
The words “execution,” “signed,” “signature,” “delivery,” and words of like import in this Commitment 
Letter shall be deemed to include electronic signatures or electronic records, each of which shall be of 
the same legal effect, validity or enforceability as a manually executed signature, physical delivery 
thereof or the use of a paper-based recordkeeping system, as the case may be, to the extent and as 
provided for in any applicable law, including the Federal Electronic Signatures in Global and National 
Commerce Act, the New York State Electronic Signatures and Records Act, or any other similar state 
laws 
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based on the Uniform Electronic Transactions Act. This Commitment Letter, together with the 
Incremental Fee Letter, contains the entire agreement among the parties relating to the subject matter 
hereof and supersedes all oral statements and prior writings with respect thereto. Section headings used 
herein are for convenience of reference only, are not part of this Commitment Letter and are not to 
affect the construction of, or to be taken into consideration in interpreting, this Commitment Letter. 

THIS COMMITMENT LETTER AND ANY CLAIM, CONTROVERSY OR DISPUTE 
(WHETHER IN CONTRACT, TORT OR OTHERWISE) ARISING UNDER OR RELATED TO 
THIS COMMITMENT LETTER SHALL BE CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH AND 
GOVERNED BY THE LAW OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK. Notwithstanding the preceding 
sentence, interpretation of the provisions of the Acquisition Agreement (including with respect to 
satisfaction of the conditions contained therein, whether the Acquisition has been consummated as 
contemplated by the Acquisition Agreement in accordance with the terms thereof) and all issues, claims 
and disputes concerning the construction, validity, interpretation and enforceability of the Acquisition 
Agreement and the exhibits and schedules thereto shall, in each case, be governed by French law.

Each of the parties hereto agrees that this Commitment Letter is a binding and enforceable 
agreement with respect to the subject matter contained herein, it being acknowledged and agreed that the 
commitments provided hereunder are subject solely to the conditions expressly stated in Exhibit C, 
including the execution and delivery of the Incremental Term Facility Documentation by the Borrower 
and Guarantors in a manner consistent with this Commitment Letter.

10. WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL.

EACH PARTY HERETO HEREBY WAIVES, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED 
BY APPLICABLE REQUIREMENTS OF LAW, ANY RIGHT IT MAY HAVE TO A TRIAL BY 
JURY IN ANY LEGAL PROCEEDING DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY ARISING OUT OF OR 
RELATING TO THE TRANSACTIONS, THIS COMMITMENT LETTER, THE EXISTING 
COMMITMENT LETTER, THE INCREMENTAL FEE LETTER OR THE EXISTING 
INCREMENTAL FEE LETTER (WHETHER BASED ON CONTRACT, TORT OR ANY OTHER 
THEORY).  EACH PARTY HERETO (A) CERTIFIES THAT NO REPRESENTATIVE, AGENT OR 
ATTORNEY OF ANY OTHER PARTY HAS REPRESENTED, EXPRESSLY OR OTHERWISE, 
THAT SUCH OTHER PARTY WOULD NOT, IN THE EVENT OF LITIGATION, SEEK TO 
ENFORCE THE FOREGOING WAIVER AND (B) ACKNOWLEDGES THAT IT AND THE 
OTHER PARTIES HERETO HAVE BEEN INDUCED TO ENTER INTO THIS COMMITMENT 
LETTER BY, AMONG OTHER THINGS, THE MUTUAL WAIVERS AND CERTIFICATIONS IN 
THIS SECTION.

11. Jurisdiction.

Each of the parties hereto hereby irrevocably and unconditionally (a) submits, for itself and its 
property, to the exclusive jurisdiction of the Supreme Court of the State of New York sitting in New 
York County in the Borough of Manhattan and of the United States District Court of the Southern 
District of New York, and any appellate court from any thereof, in any action or proceeding arising out 
of or relating to this Commitment Letter, the Existing Commitment Letter, the Incremental Fee Letter, 
the Existing Incremental Fee Letter or the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby, or for 
recognition or enforcement of any judgment, and each of the parties hereto hereby irrevocably and 
unconditionally agrees that all claims in respect of any such action or proceeding may be heard and 
determined in such New York State court or, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, in such 
Federal court; (b) waives, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable Requirements of Law, any 
objection which it may now or hereafter have to the laying of venue of any suit, action or proceeding 
arising out of or relating to this Commitment Letter, the Existing Commitment Letter, the Incremental 
Fee Letter, the Existing Incremental Fee Letter or the transactions 
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contemplated hereby or thereby, in any court referred to clause (a) above; (c) waives, to the fullest 
extent permitted by applicable Requirements of Law, the defense of an inconvenient forum to the 
maintenance of such action or proceeding in any such court and (d) agrees that a final judgment in any 
such action or proceeding shall be conclusive and may be enforced in other jurisdictions by suit on the 
judgment or in any other manner provided by law. Service of any process, summons, notice or 
document by registered mail or overnight courier addressed to any of the parties hereto at the addresses 
set forth above shall be effective service of process against such party for any suit, action or proceeding 
brought in any such court.

12. Confidentiality.

This Commitment Letter is delivered to you on the understanding that none of the Incremental 
Fee Letter, the Existing Incremental Fee Letter,  this Commitment Letter or the Existing Commitment 
Letter, or their terms or substance, shall be disclosed, directly or indirectly, to any other person or entity 
(including other lenders, underwriters, placement agents, advisors or any similar persons) except (a) to 
any Permitted Holders, your other equity holders and to your and their respective officers, directors, 
employees, affiliates, members, partners, successors, stockholders, attorneys, accountants, agents and 
advisors on a confidential basis, (b) if the Commitment Parties consent in writing to such proposed 
disclosure, (c) [reserved], (d) this Commitment Letter and the Existing Commitment Letter (but not the 
Incremental Fee Letter or the Existing Incremental Fee Letter) may be disclosed as may be required by 
the rules, regulations, schedules and forms of the Securities and Exchange Commission in connection 
with any filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission in connection with the Transactions (in 
which case you agree to inform us promptly thereof to the extent lawfully permitted to do so) or (e) 
pursuant to the order of any court or administrative agency or otherwise as required by applicable law or 
regulation or as requested by a governmental authority (in which case you agree to inform us promptly 
thereof to the extent lawfully permitted to do so); provided that (i) you may disclose this Commitment 
Letter and the contents thereof and the Existing Commitment Letter and the contents thereof (but not 
the Incremental Fee Letter and the contents thereof or the Existing Incremental Fee Letter and the 
contents thereof), except to the extent the foregoing shall have been redacted in a manner reasonably 
acceptable to the Lead Arranger) to the Target and its equity holders and their respective officers, 
directors, employees, attorneys, accountants, agents and advisors, on a confidential basis, (ii) you may 
disclose the aggregate fees in the Incremental Fee Letter as part of generic disclosure regarding fees and 
expenses in any funds flow memorandum prepared in connection with the Transactions, (iii) you may 
disclose, on a confidential basis, the Incremental Fee Letter and the contents thereof after the 
Incremental Closing Date for customary accounting purposes, including accounting for deferred 
financing costs (including to your auditors and the Target’s auditors), (iv) [reserved] and (v) you may 
disclose this Commitment Letter and the contents hereof and the Existing Commitment Letter and the 
contents thereof (but not the Incremental Fee Letter and the contents thereof or the Existing Incremental 
Fee Letter and the contents thereof) in any proxy statement or other public filing in connection with the 
Acquisition. Your obligations under this paragraph with regard to this Commitment Letter (but not the 
Incremental Fee Letter) shall terminate on the earlier of (x) the second anniversary of the Original 
Signing Date, and (y) the execution and delivery by the parties thereto of the Incremental Term Facility 
Documentation. 

Each Commitment Party and its affiliates will use all confidential information provided to it or 
such affiliates by or on behalf of you hereunder solely for the purpose of providing the services which 
are the subject of this Commitment Letter and shall treat confidentially all such information; provided 
that nothing herein shall prevent a Commitment Party from disclosing any such information (a) pursuant 
to the order of any court or administrative agency or otherwise as required by applicable law or 
regulation or as requested by a governmental authority (in which case such Commitment Party agrees to 
inform you promptly thereof to the extent lawfully permitted to do so), (b) upon the request or demand 
of any regulatory authority or self-regulatory authority (such as the National Association of Insurance 
Commissioners) having jurisdiction over such Commitment Party or any of its affiliates (in which case 
such Commitment Party agrees to inform you promptly thereof, to the extent practicable, unless such 
Commitment Party is prohibited by applicable law 
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from so informing you, or except in connection with any periodic regulatory filing, request, or as part of 
a regulatory examination or audit), (c) to the extent that such information becomes publicly available 
other than by reason of improper disclosure by such Commitment Party or any of its affiliates in 
violation of the confidentiality obligations owing to you, the Target and any of your or their respective 
subsidiaries or affiliates as set forth in this paragraph, (d) to the extent that such information is received 
by such Commitment Party from a third party that is not to such Commitment Party’s knowledge 
subject to confidentiality obligations to you, the Target or the Sponsor, (e) to the extent that such 
information is independently developed by such Commitment Party so long as not based on information 
obtained in a manner that would otherwise violate this provision, (f) to such Commitment Party’s 
affiliates and such Commitment Party’s and its affiliates’ respective employees, officers, directors, 
controlling persons, trustees, managers, advisors (including, without limitation, legal counsel, 
independent auditors and other experts or agents) and current or prospective financing sources or 
investors (collectively, the “Representatives”) who need to know such information in connection with 
the Transactions and are informed of the confidential nature of such information (provided that such 
Commitment Party shall be responsible for its affiliates and Representatives’ compliance with this 
paragraph (in the case of Representatives, to the extent within its control); provided, further, that no 
such disclosure shall be made to any Restricted Affiliates other than a limited number of employees 
who are required, in accordance with industry regulations or Blackstone’s internal policies and 
procedures to act in a supervisory capacity and the internal legal, compliance, risk management, credit 
or investment committee members of Blackstone), (g) to rating agencies for the purpose of obtaining 
shadow ratings, (h) for purposes of establishing a “due diligence” defense, (i) to market data collectors 
for customary purposes in the lending industry in connection with the Incremental Term Facility, (j) to 
the extent you shall have consented to such disclosure in writing; or (k) in connection with the 
enforcement of the Commitment Parties’ rights and remedies hereunder with any court or administrative 
agency. Each Commitment Party’s obligations under this paragraph shall automatically terminate and be 
superseded by the confidentiality provisions in the Incremental Term Facility Documentation upon the 
execution and delivery of the Incremental Term Facility Documentation and in any event shall terminate 
on the second anniversary of the Original Signing Date. Each Commitment Party shall be principally 
liable to the extent any confidentiality restrictions set forth herein are violated by one or more of its 
affiliates or any of its or their respective Representatives. 

13. Surviving Provisions.

The indemnification, expense reimbursement, compensation (if applicable), confidentiality, 
jurisdiction, venue, governing law, waiver of jury trial and fiduciary duty provisions contained herein 
and in the Incremental Fee Letter shall remain in full force and effect regardless of whether definitive 
financing documentation shall be executed and delivered and notwithstanding the termination of this 
Commitment Letter or the Initial Incremental Lender’s commitments hereunder and the Lead 
Arranger’s agreement to provide the services described herein; provided that your obligations under this 
Commitment Letter, other than those relating to confidentiality (if the Incremental Term Facility has 
been funded), shall automatically terminate and be superseded by the Incremental Term Facility 
Documentation (to the extent covered thereby) upon the funding under the Incremental Term Facility, 
and you shall be released from all liability in connection therewith at such time.

14. PATRIOT ACT Notification.

We hereby notify you that pursuant to the requirements of the USA PATRIOT Improvement 
and Reauthorization Act, Pub. L. 109-177 (signed into law March 9, 2006) (the “Patriot Act”) and the 
requirements of 31 C.F.R. §1010.230 (the “Beneficial Ownership Regulation”), each Commitment 
Party and the Initial Incremental Lender is required to obtain, verify and record information that 
identifies the Borrower and each Guarantor, which information includes the name, address, tax 
identification number and other information regarding the Borrower and each Guarantor that will allow 
such Commitment Party or such 
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Lender to identify the Borrower and each Guarantor, including by delivery of a certification regarding 
beneficial ownership in relation to the Borrower, in accordance with, or as otherwise required by, the 
Patriot Act and the Beneficial Ownership Regulation. This notice is given in accordance with the 
requirements of the Patriot Act and the Beneficial Ownership Regulation and is effective as to each 
Commitment Party and the Initial Incremental Lender.

15. Amendment and Restatement.

This Amended and Restated Commitment Letter amends and restates in its entirety that certain 
Commitment Letter, dated as of February 20, 2025 (the “Original Signing Date”), by and among you 
and Blackstone (the “Existing Commitment Letter”). The Existing Commitment Letter shall be 
superseded and replaced in its entirety upon the effectiveness of this Commitment Letter. 

16. Acceptance and Termination.

If the foregoing correctly sets forth our agreement, please indicate your acceptance of the terms 
of this Commitment Letter and of the Incremental Fee Letter by returning to the Lead Arranger 
executed counterparts hereof and of the Incremental Fee Letter not later than 11:59 p.m., New York 
City time, on the date of this Commitment Letter. The Commitment Parties’ commitments hereunder 
and agreements contained herein will expire at such time in the event that the Lead Arranger have not 
received such executed counterparts in accordance with the immediately preceding sentence. In the 
event that the initial borrowing in respect of the Incremental Term Facility does not occur on or before 
11:59 p.m., New York City time, on the date that is 5 Business days after the Long Stop Date (as 
defined in the Acquisition Agreement in the form as in effect on the date hereof (for the avoidance of 
doubt, as extended by the Acquisition Agreement Amendment, and without giving effect to any further 
extensions thereunder) contemplated by the Put Option as in effect as of the date hereof), then this 
Commitment Letter and the commitments and undertakings of each Commitment Party hereunder shall 
automatically terminate unless it shall, in its discretion, agree to an extension. Notwithstanding anything 
in this paragraph to the contrary, the termination of any commitment pursuant to this paragraph does not 
prejudice our or your rights and remedies in respect of any breach of this Commitment Letter.

[Remainder of this page intentionally left blank]
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The Commitment Parties are pleased to have been given the opportunity to assist you in 
connection with the financing for the Transactions.

Very truly yours,

BLACKSTONE ALTERNATIVE CREDIT 
ADVISORS LP
 
 
By: /s/ Marisa Beeney
Name: Marisa Beeney
Title: Authorized Signatory
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Accepted and agreed to as of
the date first above written:
 
LOAR GROUP INC.
 
 
By:  /s/ Glenn D'Alessandro 
Name: Glenn D’Alessandro
Title: Chief Financial Officer
 
 
 



1 All capitalized terms used but not defined herein have the meanings given to them in the Commitment Letter to which this 
Exhibit A is attached, including the other Exhibits thereto, or in the Credit Agreement, as applicable.  In the event any such 
capitalized term is subject to multiple and differing definitions, the appropriate meaning thereof in this Exhibit A shall be 
determined by reference to the context in which it is used.
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CONFIDENTIAL

 
EXHIBIT A

 
Project Jetstream

Incremental Term Facility
Transaction Description1 

 
It is intended that:

(a) the Borrower will acquire (the “Acquisition”), directly or indirectly (including by one or 
more acquisitions of direct or indirect equity interests, mergers and/or other means), the Transferred 
Securities (as defined in the Acquisition Agreement) of (i) ASC3 LMB TopCo, a société par actions 
simplifiée organized under the laws of France and (ii) ASC3 LMB FinCo, a société par actions 
simplifiée organized under the laws of France (collectively, the “Target”, and together with their 
subsidiaries, the Acquired Business”) pursuant to that certain Securities Purchase Agreement, in the 
form attached as Exhibit 2 to that certain Put Option agreement dated as of the Original Signing Date 
(the “Put Option”), by and among you, Holdings and the Sellers (as defined therein) from time to time 
party thereto (such Securities Purchase Agreement, together with the schedules and exhibits thereto, as 
amended by that certain letter agreement, dated as of July 29, 2025 (the “Acquisition Agreement 
Amendment”), and as may be further amended, amended and restated, modified, supplemented or 
waived from time to time in accordance with Exhibit C to this Commitment Letter, the “Acquisition 
Agreement”);

(b) the Borrower will obtain the Dollar Equivalent of 400.0 million Euros in aggregate 
principal amount of incremental term loans (the “Incremental Term Facility”) under the Credit 
Agreement, having the terms set forth in the Summary of Principal Terms and Conditions attached 
hereto as Exhibit B (the “Term Sheet”); 

(c) all Existing Indebtedness (as defined in the Acquisition Agreement) will repaid in full, and 
in connection with, and substantially concurrently with the closing of, the Transactions, all 
commitments to lend under the Existing Facilities (as defined in the Acquisition Agreement) and all 
guarantees and security in connection therewith will be terminated and/or released (as applicable) (the 
“Target Debt Refinancing”); and   

(d)  the proceeds of the Incremental Term Facility received by the Borrower will be used to 
directly or indirectly (i) pay a portion of the consideration for the Acquisition pursuant to the terms and 
conditions of the Acquisition Agreement (the “Purchase Consideration”), and make the other 
payments contemplated by the Acquisition Agreement, (ii) to finance the Target Debt Refinancing and 
(iii) pay fees and expenses incurred in connection with the foregoing and the transactions related 
thereto (such fees and expenses, the “Transaction Costs”).

 The transactions described above, together with the transactions related thereto (including the 
payment of all Transaction Costs), are collectively referred to herein as the “Transactions”. For 
purposes of the Commitment Letter and the Incremental Fee Letter, “Incremental Closing Date” shall 
mean the date of the initial availability of, and the occurrence of the funding under, the Incremental 
Term Facility.
 



2 All capitalized terms used but not defined herein have the meanings given to them in the Commitment Letter to which this 
Term Sheet is attached, including the Exhibits thereto, or in the Credit Agreement, as applicable. In the event any such 
capitalized term is subject to multiple and differing definitions, the appropriate meaning thereof in this Exhibit shall be 
determined by reference to the context in which it is used.
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EXHIBIT B
 
 
CONFIDENTIAL

 
Project Jetstream

Incremental Term Facility
Summary of Principal Terms and Conditions2

 
Borrower: Loar Group Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Borrower”).

Administrative Agent: First Eagle Alternative Credit, LLC (as successor by merger to First Eagle 
Private Credit (f/k/a/ Newstar Financial Inc.)) will continue to act as the 
sole administrative agent and collateral agent for the Lenders under the 
Credit Agreement (including the Lenders under the Incremental Term 
Facility) and will perform the duties customarily associated with such 
roles and as set forth in the Credit Agreement.

Incremental Term Facility: A senior secured U.S. dollar term loan facility in an aggregate principal 
amount equal to the Dollar Equivalent of 400.0 million Euros (with 
such principal amount to be expressly set forth in the Incremental Term 
Facility Documentation) secured on a pari passu basis with the Initial 
Term Loans (the “Incremental Term Facility”) (the loans under the 
Incremental Term Facility shall be the “Incremental Term Loans”). 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the commitments with respect to the 
Incremental Term Facility may be ratably reduced at the Borrower’s 
election at any time prior to the Incremental Closing Date (subject to the 
provisions of the Incremental Fee Letter).

 
 “Dollar Equivalent” means the equivalent of 400.0 million Euros in U.S. dollars as determined by the 

Initial Incremental Lender on the basis of the Spot Rate for the purchase 
of U.S. dollars with Euros rounded up to the nearest whole multiple of 
$100,000.

 
“Spot Rate” means the rate determined by the Initial Incremental 
Lender for the purchase of U.S. dollars with Euros as published on the 
applicable Bloomberg screen page (or such other publicly available 
service for displaying exchange rates as selected by the Initial 
Incremental Lender) at or about 11:00 a.m. (London time) on the date 
that is two business days prior to the Incremental Closing Date.

 
Purpose: The proceeds of the Incremental Term Facility will be used by the Borrower on the 

Incremental Closing Date, together with cash on hand of the Borrower 
and its Subsidiaries (the “Cash Contribution”), to finance the 
Transactions and pay Transaction Costs.
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Availability: The Incremental Term Facility will be available in a single drawing on the Incremental 
Closing Date. Amounts borrowed under the Incremental Term Facility 
that are repaid or prepaid may not be reborrowed.  

Interest Rates: The “Applicable Loan Margin” with respect to the Incremental Term Loans in the form 
of Term SOFR Loans and ABR Loans shall be set at the following 
percentages per annum, based upon the Total Net Leverage Ratio as 
specified in the most recent Compliance Certificate received by the 
Administrative Agent pursuant to Section 5.01(d) of the Credit 
Agreement:

Pricing Level Total Net Leverage Ratio
Term SOFR 
Loans ABR Loans 

1 > 5.50:1.00 4.50% 3.50%

2 < 5.50:1.00 4.25% 3.25%

 

Final Maturity and
Amortization: The Incremental Term Loans will mature on the Term Loan Maturity Date with respect 

to the Initial Term Loans and will amortize in equal quarterly 
installments in aggregate annual amounts equal to 1.00% per annum of 
the original principal amount of the Incremental Term Loans (or, to the 
extent possible, as otherwise required for the Incremental Term Loans 
to be fungible with the Initial Term Loans, in each case subject to 
reduction in connection with debt prepayments and debt buy backs). 
 
Such amortization shall commence on the last Business Day of the first 
full fiscal quarter after the Incremental Closing Date (or, to the extent 
possible, such earlier date as required for the Incremental Term Loans 
to be fungible with the Initial Term Loans), with the balance payable on 
the Term Loan Maturity Date.
 

Guarantees: Same as under the Credit Agreement.

Security: Same as under the Credit Agreement.

Mandatory Prepayments: Same as under the Credit Agreement for the Initial Term Loans.   

Voluntary Prepayments: Same as under the Credit Agreement for the Initial Term Loans.
 
Documentation: The Incremental Term Facility shall be effected pursuant to an amendment to the 

Credit Agreement, and the making of the Incremental Term Loans 
thereunder will be governed by the Credit Agreement and the other 
existing Loan Documents (and such incurrence shall be subject to the 
requirements and conditions under Section 2.17 of the Credit 
Agreement; provided that the conditions in Section 2.17(c)(i) and (ii) of 
the Credit Agreement shall not be required), which shall reflect the 
terms and conditions set forth in this Commitment Letter (collectively, 
the 
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“Incremental Term Facility Documentation”).  This paragraph shall 
be referred to as the “Documentation Principles”.

Representations and
Warranties: Subject to the Limited Conditionality Provision, same as under the Credit Agreement.

Conditions Precedent to Initial 
Borrowing: Subject to the Limited Conditionality Provision, the borrowings under the Incremental 

Term Facility on the Incremental Closing Date will be subject only to 
the applicable conditions precedent set forth in Exhibit C.

 
Affirmative Covenants: Same as under the Credit Agreement.

Negative Covenants: Same as under the Credit Agreement. 

Financial Covenants: Same as applicable to the Initial Term Loans under the Credit Agreement (for the 
avoidance of doubt, except for the Springing Covenant).

Events of Default: Same as under the Credit Agreement.

Voting: Same as applicable to the Initial Term Loans under the Credit Agreement.

Cost and Yield Protection: Same as under the Credit Agreement. 

Assignments and
Participations: Same as under the Credit Agreement.

Expenses and Indemnification: As provided in the Commitment Letter, and if the Incremental Closing 
Date occurs, thereafter, same as under the Credit Agreement.

Governing Law and Forum: New York and Borough of Manhattan.

Counsel to the Lead Arrangers:    Willkie Farr & Gallagher LLP. 



3 All capitalized terms used but not defined herein have the meanings given to them in the Commitment Letter to which this 
Exhibit is attached, including the other Exhibits thereto, or in the Credit Agreement, as applicable.  In the event any such 
capitalized term is subject to multiple and differing definitions, the appropriate meaning thereof in this Exhibit shall be 
determined by reference to the context in which it is used.
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CONFIDENTIAL

EXHIBIT C
 

Project Jetstream
Incremental Term Facility

Conditions Precedent3

 
Subject to the Limited Conditionality Provision and the Documentation Principles in all 

respects, the availability of, and funding under, the Incremental Term Facility on the Incremental 
Closing Date shall be subject solely to the satisfaction or waiver by the Lead Arranger of the 
following conditions precedent:

1. With respect to the Incremental Term Facility, the execution and delivery by 
Holdings, the Borrower and the other Guarantors of the Incremental Term Facility Documentation 
consistent with the Commitment Letter and the Term Sheet shall have occurred.

2. The Acquisition shall have been consummated, or shall be consummated 
substantially concurrently with the borrowing under the Incremental Term Facility, in all material 
respects in accordance with the terms of the Acquisition Agreement. No provision of the Acquisition 
Agreement shall have been amended or waived, nor shall any consent have been given, by the 
Borrower or any of its affiliates in a manner materially adverse to the Initial Incremental Lender (in its 
capacity as such) without the consent of the Lead Arranger (such consent not to be unreasonably 
withheld, delayed or conditioned; provided that the Lead Arranger shall be deemed to have consented 
to such waiver, amendment or consent unless it shall object thereto within five (5) business days after 
receipt of written notice of such waiver, amendment or consent); provided that (a) any amendment, 
waiver or consent which results in a reduction in the purchase price for the Acquisition of less than 
15% of the purchase price shall not be deemed to be materially adverse to the Initial Incremental 
Lender to the extent it is applied to reduce the amount of the commitments in respect of the 
Incremental Term Facility and (b) any amendment, waiver or consent which results in an increase in 
purchase price for the Acquisition shall not be deemed to be materially adverse to the Initial 
Incremental Lender so long as such increase is funded with an increase in the Cash Contribution, any 
equity contribution or borrowings of Revolving Credit Loans. 

3. The Administrative Agent shall have received the following (the “Closing 
Deliverables”): (a) customary legal opinions, board resolutions and officers’ certificates and solvency 
and closing certificates, in each case, consistent with those delivered on the Closing Date (conformed 
as appropriate) other than (in the case of legal opinions) changes to such legal opinions resulting from 
a change in law, change in fact or change to counsel’s form of opinion reasonably satisfactory to the 
Administrative Agent, or any additional legal opinions of local counsel to the Loan Parties as may be 
reasonably requested by the Lead Arranger, (b) reaffirmation agreements and/or such amendments to 
the Security Documents as may be reasonably requested by the Lead Arranger in order to ensure that 
such Administrative Agent is provided with the benefit of the applicable Loan Documents and (c) a 
customary borrowing notice (it being agreed that such borrowing notice may be expressly conditioned 
upon the closing of the Acquisition).

4. All fees and expenses (in the case of expenses, to the extent invoiced at least three 
(3) business days prior to the Incremental Closing Date (except as otherwise reasonably agreed by the 
Borrower)), required to be paid to the Commitment Parties and the Administrative Agent on the 
Incremental Closing Date (including without limitation, such fees payable on the Incremental Closing 
Date pursuant to 
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the Commitment Letter), shall have been paid, or shall be paid substantially concurrently with, the 
borrowing under the Incremental Term Facility. 

5. The Specified LMB Representations shall be true and correct in all material respects 
on the LMB Limited Conditionality Date (unless such Specified LMB Representations relate to an 
earlier date, in which case, such Specified LMB Representations shall have been true and correct in all 
material respects as of such earlier date). 

6. The Administrative Agent shall have received all documentation and other 
information about the Borrower and the Guarantors required by bank regulatory authorities under 
applicable “know your customer” and anti-money laundering rules and regulations, including without 
limitation, the USA Patriot Act (Title III of Pub. L. 107-56 (signed into law October 26, 2001)), at 
least three (3) Business Days prior to the Incremental Closing Date (to the extent such documentation 
and information has been requested by the Administrative Agent not less than eight (8) Business Days 
prior to the Incremental Closing Date). 

7. Substantially concurrently with the funding of the Incremental Term Facility, the 
Target Debt Refinancing shall be, or shall have concurrently been, consummated. 
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 SEVENTEENTH AMENDMENT
TO CREDIT AGREEMENT

This SEVENTEENTH AMENDMENT TO CREDIT AGREEMENT (this “Amendment”), is 
entered into as of August [1], 2025, among Loar Holdings Inc., a Delaware corporation (f/k/a Loar 
Holdings, LLC, “Holdings”), the other Guarantors party hereto, Loar Group Inc., a Delaware 
corporation (as successor by merger to Loar Merger Sub, Inc., the “Borrower”), the Lenders party 
hereto (being all of the Term Lenders), and First Eagle Alternative Credit, LLC (as successor by 
merger to First Eagle Private Credit, LLC (f/k/a NewStar Financial, Inc.)), as administrative agent for 
the Lenders (in such capacity, the “Administrative Agent”) and as collateral agent for the Secured 
Parties (in such capacity, the “Collateral Agent” and, together with the Administrative Agent, the 
“Specified Agents”).

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, Holdings, the Borrower, the Guarantors party thereto from time to time, the 
Lenders party thereto from time to time, the Specified Agents and Citibank, N.A., as administrative 
agent for the Revolving Lenders and as an Issuing Bank, are parties to that certain Credit Agreement, 
dated as of October 2, 2017 (as amended by the First Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of 
August 10, 2018, the Second Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of October 26, 2018, the 
Third Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of December 21, 2018, the Fourth Amendment to 
Credit Agreement, dated as of May 17, 2019, the Fifth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of 
October 16, 2019, the Sixth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of April 2, 2020, the Seventh 
Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of April 17, 2020, the Eighth Amendment to Credit 
Agreement, dated as of December 28, 2020, the Ninth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of 
April 1, 2022, the Tenth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of May 20, 2022, the Eleventh 
Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of July 28, 2022,  the Twelfth Amendment to Credit 
Agreement, dated as of June 30, 2023, the Thirteenth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of 
March 26, 2024, the Fourteenth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of April 10, 2024, the 
Fifteenth Amendment to Credit Agreement and First Amendment to Security Agreement, dated as of 
May 10, 2024, the Sixteenth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of August 26, 2024 and as 
otherwise amended, supplemented or otherwise modified prior to the date hereof, the “Credit 
Agreement” and, as amended by this Amendment, the “Amended Credit Agreement”; capitalized 
terms used herein (including in the preamble hereto) that are not otherwise defined herein shall have 
the respective meanings assigned to such terms in the Amended Credit Agreement); and

 WHEREAS, the Loan Parties, the Term Lenders and the Specified Agents are willing to amend the 
Credit Agreement as set forth in Section 1 of this Amendment in order to reduce the interest rate 
margins applicable to the Initial Term Loans and the Delayed Draw Term Loans, subject to the terms 
and conditions set forth herein.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual agreements, provisions and covenants 
contained herein, the parties hereto agree as follows: 

SECTION 1.Amendments to Credit Agreement. Upon satisfaction (or waiver by the Term 
Lenders) of the conditions set forth in Section 2 hereof, the Credit Agreement is hereby amended as 
follows:

(a)A new defined term “Seventeenth Amendment Effective Date” shall be added to 
Section 1.01 of the Credit Agreement in appropriate alphabetical order as follows:

“Seventeenth Amendment Effective Date” shall mean August [1], 2025.
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(b)The defined term “Applicable Loan Margin” in Section 1.01 of the Credit 
Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its entirety as follows:

““Applicable Loan Margin” shall mean, as of any day:

(I) until but not including the Seventeenth Amendment Effective Date, with respect to 
Initial Term Loans (including, for the avoidance of doubt, the Sixteenth Amendment 
Incremental Term Loans) and Delayed Draw Term Loans, (a) until delivery of a Compliance 
Certificate with respect to the first full fiscal quarter ending after the Fifteenth Amendment 
Effective Date pursuant to Section 5.01(d), (i) 4.75% per annum for Term SOFR Loans and (ii) 
3.75% per annum for ABR Loans and (b) thereafter, the following percentages per annum, 
based upon the Total Net Leverage Ratio as specified in the most recent Compliance Certificate 
received by the Administrative Agent pursuant to Section 5.01(d):

Pricing Level Total Net Leverage Ratio
Term SOFR 
Loans ABR Loans 

1 > 6.25:1.00 5.25% 4.25%

2 < 6.25:1.00 and > 5.50:1.00 5.00% 4.00%

3 < 5.50:1.00 4.75% 3.75%

(I) from and after the Seventeenth Amendment Effective Date, the following 
percentages per annum, based upon the Total Net Leverage Ratio as specified in the most recent 
Compliance Certificate received by the Administrative Agent pursuant to Section 5.01(d):

Pricing Level Total Net Leverage Ratio
Term SOFR 
Loans ABR Loans 

1 > 5.50:1.00 4.50% 3.50%

2 < 5.50:1.00 4.25% 3.25%

(III) with respect to Revolving Credit Loans and unused Revolving Credit 
Commitments under the Revolving Facility and Letter of Credit fees, 2.75% per annum for 
Term SOFR Loans and Letter of Credit fees, (ii) 1.75% per annum for Base Rate Loans and (iii) 
0.375% per annum for the Commitment Fee Rate for unused Revolving Credit Commitments.

Any increase or decrease in the Applicable Loan Margin resulting from a change in the 
Total Net Leverage Ratio shall become effective as of the first Business Day immediately 
following the date a Compliance Certificate is delivered pursuant to Section 5.01(d)); provided 
that, in the case of clauses (I) and (II) above, “Pricing Level 1” (as set forth in the applicable 
table above) shall automatically apply to the applicable Class as of (x) the first Business Day 
after the date on which a Compliance Certificate was required to have been delivered but was 
not delivered, and shall continue to so apply to and including the date on which such 
Compliance Certificate is so delivered (and thereafter the pricing level otherwise determined in 
accordance with this definition shall apply) or (y) the first Business Day after an Event of 
Default under Section 8.01(a) or (b) shall have occurred and be continuing, and shall continue 
to so apply to but excluding the date on which such Event of Default is cured or waived (and 
thereafter the pricing level otherwise determined in 
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accordance with this definition shall apply); provided, however, that notwithstanding anything 
to the contrary contained in this definition, the determination of the Applicable Loan Margin 
for any period shall be subject to Section 2.06(f).

Notwithstanding the foregoing, (x) the Applicable Loan Margin in respect of any Class 
of (I) Extended Revolving Credit Loans and Extended Revolving Credit Commitments or (II) 
Extended Term Loans, in each case, established pursuant to an Extension Amendment, shall be 
the applicable percentages per annum set forth in the relevant Extension Amendment, (y) the 
Applicable Loan Margin in respect of any Class of Incremental Term Loans or any Class of 
Incremental Revolving Credit Commitments (and the Incremental Revolving Credit Loans in 
respect thereof) shall be the applicable percentages per annum set forth in the relevant 
Incremental Amendment and (z) in the case of the Initial Term Loans and the Delayed Draw 
Term Loans, the Applicable Loan Margin shall be increased as, and to the extent, necessary to 
comply with the provisions of Section 2.17(d)(i)(E).” 

SECTION 2.Conditions to Effectiveness of this Amendment. This Amendment shall 
become effective on the date (the “Seventeenth Amendment Effective Date”) by which there shall 
have occurred the prior or concurrent fulfillment of each of the conditions precedent set forth in this 
Section 2.

(a)Amendment.  There shall have been delivered to the Specified Agents, a 
counterpart of this Amendment, duly executed by the Borrower, each Term Lender and each other 
person contemplated to be a party hereto.

(b)Expenses. All expenses (to the extent invoiced at least three (3) Business Days 
prior to the Seventeenth Amendment Effective Date (except as otherwise reasonably agreed by the 
Borrower)) required to be paid to pursuant to Section 11 of this Amendment shall have been paid, or 
shall be paid substantially concurrently with the occurrence of the Seventeenth Amendment Effective 
Date.

(c)Representations and Warranties. The representations and warranties set forth in 
Section 3 below shall be true and correct in all material respects on and as of the Seventeenth 
Amendment Effective Date (other than those representations and warranties that are expressly 
qualified by Material Adverse Effect or other materiality, in which case such representations and 
warranties shall be true and correct in all respects after giving effect to such qualification and other 
than those representations and warranties that are expressly made as of an earlier specified date, in 
which case such representations and warranties shall be true and correct in all material respects as of 
such earlier specified date).

(d)No Default or Event of Default. No Default or Event of Default shall have 
occurred and be continuing or would result immediately after giving effect to this Amendment. 

SECTION 3.Representations and Warranties.  On and as of the Seventeenth Amendment 
Effective Date, each Loan Party represents and warrants to each of the Specified Agents and each of 
the Term Lenders:

(a)Authorization; Enforceability.  The entering into of the Amendment by each 
Loan Party is within such Loan Party’s powers and has been duly authorized by all necessary limited 
liability company, partnership or corporate action on the part of such Loan Party.  The Amendment 
has been duly executed and delivered by each Loan Party and constitutes a legal, valid and binding 
obligation of such Loan Party, enforceable in accordance with its terms, subject to applicable 
bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other laws affecting creditors’ rights generally 
and subject to general principles of equity, regardless of whether considered in a proceeding in equity 
or at law.
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(b)No Conflicts.  The entering into of the Amendment by each Loan Party (i) does not 
require any consent or approval of, registration or filing with, or any other action by, any 
Governmental Authority, except (1) such as have been obtained or made and are in full force and 
effect, (2) filings necessary to perfect Liens created by the Loan Documents and (3) consents, 
approvals, registrations, filings, permits or actions the failure to obtain or perform which could not, 
individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect; (ii) will 
not violate the Organizational Documents of any Loan Party; (iii) will not violate any Requirement of 
Law; (iv) will not violate or result in a default or require any consent or approval under any indenture, 
agreement or other instrument binding upon any Company or its property, or give rise to a right 
thereunder to require any payment to be made by any Company; (v) will not violate any order, 
judgment or decree of any court or other agency of government binding on any Company and (vi) will 
not result in the creation or imposition of any Lien on any property of any Company, except Liens 
created by the Loan Documents and Permitted Liens; except in the case of clauses (i), (iii), (iv), and 
(v) to the extent such violation, conflict, breach or default could not, individually or in the aggregate, 
reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect. 

(c)Credit Agreement Representations. The representations and warranties set forth 
in Article III of the Credit Agreement and each other Loan Document are true and correct in all 
material respects on and as of the Seventeenth Amendment Effective Date (other than those 
representations and warranties that are expressly qualified by Material Adverse Effect or other 
materiality, in which case such representations and warranties are true and correct in all respects after 
giving effect to such qualification and other than those representations and warranties that are 
expressly made as of an earlier specified date, in which case such representations and warranties are 
true and correct in all material respects as of such earlier specified date).

(d)No Default or Event of Default. No Default or Event of Default has occurred and 
is continuing or will result immediately after giving effect to this Amendment.

SECTION 4.Ratification of Liability.  As of the Seventeenth Amendment Effective Date, 
the Borrower and the other Loan Parties, as debtors, grantors, pledgors, guarantors, assignors, or in 
other similar capacities in which such parties grant liens or security interests in their properties or 
otherwise act as accommodation parties or guarantors, as the case may be, under the Loan Documents 
to which they are a party, hereby ratify and reaffirm all of their payment and performance obligations 
and obligations to indemnify, contingent or otherwise, under each of such Loan Documents to which 
they are a party, and ratify and reaffirm their grants of liens on or security interests in their properties 
pursuant to such Loan Documents to which they are a party, respectively, as security for the 
Obligations, and as of the Seventeenth Amendment Effective Date, each such Person hereby confirms 
and agrees that such liens and security interests hereafter secure all of the Obligations, including, 
without limitation, all additional Obligations hereafter arising or incurred pursuant to or in connection 
with the Amendment, the Amended Credit Agreement or any other Loan Document. As of the 
Seventeenth Amendment Effective Date, the Borrower and the other Loan Parties further agree and 
reaffirm that the Loan Documents to which they are parties now apply to all Obligations as defined in 
the Amended Credit Agreement (including, without limitation, all additional Obligations hereafter 
arising or incurred pursuant to or in connection with this Amendment, the Amended Credit Agreement 
or any other Loan Document). As of the Seventeenth Amendment Effective Date, the Borrower and 
the other Loan Parties (a) further acknowledge receipt of a copy of the Amendment, (b) consent to the 
terms and conditions of same, and (c) agree and acknowledge that each of the Loan Documents to 
which they are a party remain in full force and effect and is hereby ratified and confirmed.

SECTION 5.Reference to and Effect upon the Credit Agreement. 

(a)Except as specifically amended hereby, all terms, conditions, covenants, 
representations and warranties contained in the Amended Credit Agreement and other Loan 
Documents, 
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and all rights of the Secured Parties and all of the Obligations, shall remain in full force and effect. As 
of the Seventeenth Amendment Effective Date, the Borrower and the other Loan Parties hereby 
confirm that the Amended Credit Agreement and the other Loan Documents are in full force and effect 
and that neither the Borrower nor any other Loan Party has any right of setoff, recoupment or other 
offset or any defense, claim or counterclaim with respect to any of the Obligations, the Amended 
Credit Agreement or any other Loan Document.

(b)Except as specifically set forth herein, the execution, delivery and effectiveness of 
this Amendment shall not directly or indirectly (i) constitute a consent or waiver of any past, present 
or future violations of any provisions of the Credit Agreement or any other Loan Documents nor 
constitute a novation of any of the Obligations under the Credit Agreement or other Loan Documents 
or (ii) constitute a course of dealing or other basis for altering any Obligations or any other contract or 
instrument. 

(c)From and after the Seventeenth Amendment Effective Date, (i) the term 
“Agreement” in the Credit Agreement, and all references to the Credit Agreement in any other Loan 
Document, shall mean the Credit Agreement, as amended by this Amendment and (ii) the term “Loan 
Documents” in the Credit Agreement and the other Loan Documents shall include, without limitation, 
the Amendment and any agreements, instruments and other documents executed and/or delivered in 
connection herewith. 

(d)This Amendment shall not be deemed or construed to be a satisfaction, 
reinstatement, novation or release of the Credit Agreement or any other Loan Document.

SECTION 6.Governing Law; Jurisdiction; Consent to Service of Process. THIS 
AMENDMENT SHALL BE CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH AND GOVERNED BY 
THE LAW OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK. THE PROVISIONS OF SECTION 10.09(b), (c) 
and (d) OF THE AMENDED CREDIT AGREEMENT ARE INCORPORATED HEREIN BY 
REFERENCE, MUTATIS MUTANDIS, AS IF FULLY SET FORTH HEREIN.

SECTION 7.Counterparts; Integration. This Amendment may be executed in counterparts 
(and by different parties hereto in different counterparts), each of which shall constitute an original, 
but all of which when taken together shall constitute a single contract. This Amendment and any 
separate letter agreements with respect to fees payable to the Agents or the Lenders listed on the 
signature pages hereto, constitute the entire contract among the parties relating to the subject matter 
hereof and supersede any and all previous agreements and understandings, oral or written, relating to 
the subject matter hereof. Delivery of an executed counterpart of a signature page of this Amendment 
by telecopier or in electronic (i.e., “pdf” or “tif”) format shall be effective as delivery of a manually 
executed counterpart of this Amendment.

SECTION 8.Severability. Any provision of this Amendment held to be invalid, illegal or 
unenforceable in any jurisdiction shall, as to such jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of such 
invalidity, illegality or unenforceability without affecting the validity, legality and enforceability of the 
remaining provisions hereof; and the invalidity of a particular provision in a particular jurisdiction 
shall not invalidate such provision in any other jurisdiction.

SECTION 9.Headings. Article and Section headings used herein are for convenience of 
reference only, are not part of this Amendment and shall not affect the construction of, or be taken into 
consideration in interpreting, this Amendment.

SECTION 10.Notices. All notices, requests, and demands to or upon the respective parties 
hereto shall be given in accordance with the Amended Credit Agreement.
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SECTION 11.Expenses.  The Borrower agrees to pay all reasonable documented out-of-
pocket expenses of Paul Hastings LLP, counsel to the Administrative Agent and the Collateral Agent, 
and Willkie Farr & Gallagher LLP, counsel to the Term Lenders, in connection with the negotiation, 
preparation, execution and delivery of this Amendment, as well as ongoing reasonable documented 
out-of-pocket expenses incurred after the Seventeenth Amendment Effective Date in connection 
herewith, in each case in accordance with Section 10.03 of the Amended Credit Agreement.

SECTION 12.Waiver of Jury Trial. EACH PARTY HERETO HEREBY WAIVES, TO 
THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE REQUIREMENTS OF LAW, 
ANY RIGHT IT MAY HAVE TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY LEGAL PROCEEDING 
DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AMENDMENT 
OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY (WHETHER BASED ON 
CONTRACT, TORT OR ANY OTHER THEORY). EACH PARTY HERETO (A) CERTIFIES 
THAT NO REPRESENTATIVE, AGENT OR ATTORNEY OF ANY OTHER PARTY HAS 
REPRESENTED, EXPRESSLY OR OTHERWISE, THAT SUCH OTHER PARTY WOULD 
NOT, IN THE EVENT OF LITIGATION, SEEK TO ENFORCE THE FOREGOING WAIVER 
AND (B) ACKNOWLEDGES THAT IT AND THE OTHER PARTIES HERETO HAVE BEEN 
INDUCED TO ENTER INTO THIS AMENDMENT BY, AMONG OTHER THINGS, THE 
MUTUAL WAIVERS AND CERTIFICATIONS IN THIS SECTION 12.

SECTION 13.Agent Authorization. Each of the undersigned Lenders hereby authorizes the 
Specified Agents to execute and deliver this Amendment and the other documents entered into in 
connection herewith on its behalf, and by its execution below, each of the undersigned Lenders agrees 
to be bound by the terms and conditions of this Amendment and such other documents.

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Amendment to be duly 
executed by their respective authorized officers as of the day and year first above written.

+

LOAR GROUP INC.,
as Borrower

By: /s/ Glenn D’Alessandro 
Name: Glenn D’Alessandro
Title: Chief Financial Officer

 

LOAR HOLDINGS INC.,
as Holdings

By:  /s/ Glenn D’Alessandro 
Name: Glenn D’Alessandro
Title: Chief Financial Officer

 

XPEDITION HOLDINGS, INC.
AGC ACQUISITION LLC 
FREEMAN COMPOSITES COMPANY LLC
AVIATION MANUFACTURING GROUP, LLC
SAF INDUSTRIES LLC
TERRY’S PRECISION PRODUCTS LLC 
GENERAL ECOLOGY, INC. 
APPLIED ENGINEERING, INC.
MAVERICK MODLING CO.
SMR ACQUISITION LLC
BAM INC.
HYDRA-ELECTRIC COMPANY
PACIFIC PISTON RING CO., INC.
SAFE FLIGHT INSTRUMENT, LLC,
DAC ENGINEERED PRODUCTS, LLC
AOG-SEGINUS HOLDING COMPANY, LLC
SEGINUS AEROSPACE LLC
AOG AVIATION SPARES LLC,
CAV ICE PROTECTION, INC.
APPLIED AVIONICS, LLC
as Guarantors

By:  /s/ Glenn D’Alessandro 
Name: Glenn D’Alessandro
Title: Chief Financial Officer
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                                                                     ST. JULIAN MATERIALS, LLC, as a Guarantor

By:  /s/ Glenn D’Alessandro 
Name: Glenn D’Alessandro
Title: Manager

 

SCHROTH ACQUISITION GMBH, as a Guarantor

By:  /s/ Martin Nadol 
Name: Martin Nadol 
Title: Managing Director

 

SCHROTH SAFETY PRODUCTS GMBH, as a 
Guarantor

By:  /s/ Martin Nadol 
Name:  Martin Nadol 
Title: Managing Director
 
 
 

SCHROTH SAFETY PRODUCTS LLC, as a 
Guarantor

By:  /s/ Glenn D’Alessandro 
Name:  Glenn D’Alessandro
Title: Chief Financial Officer
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FIRST EAGLE ALTERNATIVE CREDIT, 
LLC (as successor by merger to FIRST EAGLE 
PRIVATE CREDIT, LLC (f/k/a NEWSTAR 
FINANCIAL, INC.)), as Administrative Agent 
and Collateral Agent

 
 
By: /s/ Renee Cedorchuk 

Name: Renee Cedorchuk  
Title:   Authorized Signor 
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BLACKSTONE PRIVATE CREDIT FUND, as a 
Lender
 
By: Blackstone Private Credit Strategies LLC, as
Investment Advisor
 
By: Blackstone Credit BDC Advisors LLC, as Sub-
Investment Advisor

 

 
 
By: /s/ Marisa J Beeney 

Name: Marisa J. Beeney
Title: Authorized Signatory

 
BCRED BISON PEAK FUNDING LLC, as a Lender
 
By: Blackstone Private Credit Fund, as sole member
 
By: Blackstone Private Credit Strategies LLC, as
Investment Advisor
 
By: Blackstone Credit BDC Advisors LLC, as Sub-
Investment Advisor
 
 
By: /s/ Marisa J Beeney 

Name: Marisa J. Beeney
Title: Authorized Signatory

 
BCRED BUSHNELL PEAK FUNDING LLC, as a 
Lender
 
By: Blackstone Private Credit Fund, as sole member
 
By: Blackstone Private Credit Strategies LLC, as
Investment Advisor
 
By: Blackstone Credit BDC Advisors LLC, as Sub -
Investment Advisor
 
 
By: /s/ Marisa J Beeney 

Name: Marisa J. Beeney
Title: Authorized Signatory
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                                                   BCRED CLO 2023-1 LLC, as a Lender

By: Blackstone Private Credit Fund, as Collateral 
Manager
 
By: Blackstone Private Credit Strategies LLC, as
Investment Advisor
 
By: Blackstone Credit BDC Advisors LLC, as Sub-
Investment advisor
 
 
By: /s/ Marisa J Beeney 

Name: Marisa J. Beeney
Title: Authorized Signatory

 
BCRED CLO 2024-2 LLC, as a Lender
 
By: Blackstone Private Credit Fund, as Collateral 
Manager
 
By: Blackstone Private Credit Strategies LLC, as
Investment Advisor
 
By: Blackstone Credit BDC Advisors LLC, as Sub-
Investment advisor
 
 

By: /s/ Marisa J Beeney 
Name: Marisa J. Beeney
Title: Authorized Signatory

 
BCRED DENALI PEAK FUNDING LLC, as a 
Lender
 
By: Blackstone Private Credit Fund, its sole member
 
By: Blackstone Private Credit Strategies LLC, as
Investment Advisor
 
By: Blackstone Credit BDC Advisors LLC, as Sub-
Investment Advisor
 
 
By: /s/ Marisa J Beeney 

Name: Marisa J. Beeney
Title: Authorized Signator
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BCRED GRANITE PEAK FUNDING LLC, as a                          
XXXX  Lender

 
By: Blackstone Private Credit Fund, as sole member
 
By: Blackstone Private Credit Strategies LLC, as
Investment Advisor
 
By: Blackstone Credit BDC Advisors LLC, as Sub-
Investment Advisor
 
 
By: /s/ Marisa J Beeney 

Name: Marisa J. Beeney
Title: Authorized Signatory

 
BCRED HAYDON PEAK FUNDING LLC, as an 
Additional Lender
 
By: Blackstone Private Credit Fund, as sole member
 
By: Blackstone Private Credit Strategies LLC, as
Investment Advisor
 
By: Blackstone Credit BDC Advisors LLC, as Sub-
Investment Advisor
 
 
By: /s/ Marisa J Beeney 

Name: Marisa J. Beeney
Title: Authorized Signatory
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BCRED MIDDLE PEAK FUNDING LLC, as a 
Lender
 
By: Blackstone Private Credit Fund, as sole member
 
By: Blackstone Private Credit Strategies LLC, as
Investment Advisor
 
By: Blackstone Credit BDC Advisors LLC, as Sub-
Investment Advisor
 
 
/s/ Marisa J Beeney 

Name: Marisa J. Beeney
Title: Authorized Signatory

 
BCRED MML CLO 2021-1 LLC, as a Lender

By: Blackstone Private Credit Fund, as Collateral 
Manager
 
By: Blackstone Private Credit Strategies LLC, as
Investment Advisor
 
By: Blackstone Credit BDC Advisors LLC, as Sub-
Investment Advisor
 
 
/s/ Marisa J Beeney 

Name: Marisa J. Beeney
Title: Authorized Signatory

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

BCRED MML CLO 2022-1 LLC, as a Lender
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By: Blackstone Private Credit Fund, as Collateral 
Manager
 
By: Blackstone Private Credit Strategies LLC, as
Investment Advisor
 
By: Blackstone Credit BDC Advisors LLC, as Sub-
Investment Advisor
 
 
/s/ Marisa J Beeney 

Name: Marisa J. Beeney
Title: Authorized Signatory

 
 
BCRED MML CLO 2022-2 LLC, as a Lender

By: Blackstone Private Credit Fund, as Collateral 
Manager
 
By: Blackstone Private Credit Strategies LLC, as
Investment Advisor
 
By: Blackstone Credit BDC Advisors LLC, as Sub-
Investment Advisor
 
 
/s/ Marisa J Beeney 

Name: Marisa J. Beeney
Title: Authorized Signatory

:
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
BCRED SUMMIT PEAK FUNDING LLC, as a 
Lender 
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By: Blackstone Private Credit Fund, as sole member
 
By: Blackstone Private Credit Strategies LLC, as
Investment Advisor
 
By: Blackstone Credit BDC Advisors LLC, as Sub-
Investment Advisor
 
 
/s/ Marisa J Beeney 

Name: Marisa J. Beeney
Title: Authorized Signatory

 
 
BCRED WINDOM PEAK FUNDING LLC, as a 
Lender
 
By: Blackstone Private Credit Fund, as sole member
 
By: Blackstone Private Credit Strategies LLC, as
Investment Advisor
 
By: Blackstone Credit BDC Advisors LLC, as Sub-
Investment Advisor
 
 
/s/ Marisa J Beeney 

Name: Marisa J. Beeney
Title: Authorized Signatory

 





 
 

Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO

SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
 

 
I, Dirkson Charles, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Loar Holdings Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary 
to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the 
period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known 
to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. [Omitted];

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions 
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such 
evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the 
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially 
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent 
functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting 
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial 
information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the 
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

 
         
August 13, 2025 By: /s/ Dirkson Charles
  Dirkson Charles
  President, Chief Executive Officer and Executive Co-Chairman

(Principal Executive Officer)
 
 
 





 
Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 
I, Glenn D’Alessandro, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Loar Holdings Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary 
to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the 
period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known 
to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. [Omitted];

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions 
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such 
evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the 
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially 
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent 
functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting 
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial 
information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the 
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

 
         
August 13, 2025 By: /s/ Glenn D’Alessandro
  Glenn D’Alessandro
  Treasurer and Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer)
 





 
Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 
In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Loar Holdings Inc. (the “Company”) for the quarterly period ended June 30, 
2025, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Dirkson Charles, President, Chief 
Executive Officer and Executive Co-Chairman of the Company, do hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted 
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the 
Company.
 
         
August 13, 2025 By: /s/ Dirkson Charles
  Dirkson Charles
  President, Chief Executive Officer and Executive Co-Chairman

(Principal Executive Officer)
 





 
Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 
In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Loar Holdings Inc. (the “Company”) for the quarterly period ended June 30, 
2025, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Glenn D’Alessandro, Chief Financial 
Officer of the Company, do hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the 
Company.
 
         
August 13, 2025 By: /s/ Glenn D’Alessandro
  Glenn D'Alessandro
  Treasurer and Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer)
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